THE EFFECT OF SATISFYING THE REQUIREMENTS FOR FIRE OFFICER SCHOOL ON LEADERSHIP SELF-EFFICACY AMONG FIRE SERVICE OFFICERS: A QUASI-EXPERIMENTAL, NONEQUIVALENT CONTROL GROUPS STUDY

by

Thomas James Grady III

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

2023

THE EFFECT OF SATISFYING THE REQUIREMENTS FOR FIRE OFFICER SCHOOL ON LEADERSHIP SELF-EFFICACY AMONG FIRE SERVICE OFFICERS: A QUASI-EXPERIMENTAL, NONEQUIVALENT CONTROL GROUPS STUDY

by

Thomas James Grady III

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA

2023

APPROVED BY:

Timothy R. Nelson, Ed.D., Committee Chair

Philip Alsup, Ed.D., Committee Member

Abstract

The purpose of this quasi-experimental, nonequivalent control groups study was to determine if a statistically significant difference exists in fire officer leadership self-efficacy of officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school. This study utilized self-efficacy theory, leadership self-efficacy theory, social cognitive theory, and adult learning theory to support explanation of such standards. This quasiexperimental, nonequivalent control groups study employed the Bobbio and Manganelli's Leadership Self-Efficacy Scale (LSES) to assess the degree of fire officer leadership selfefficacy. Within testing sites, there was a treatment group (Training) and a control group (No Training). Sampling methods included convenience and voluntary response sampling of fire officers from two different fire departments. The number of participants sampled was 100. The utilized statistic was the independent samples t test. An independent samples t test was used to test the null hypothesis: is there a difference among the leadership self-efficacy scores of participants who attended fire officer school and those who did not attend fire officer school? The findings state that there is no significant difference between fire officer leadership selfefficacy of fire officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school t(99)=0.11, p < 0.05. Upon completion of this study, it was determined that future empirical research is recommended to include a greater number of participants, a more diverse set of participants, of more fire departments, and across a vaster area.

Keywords: quasi-experimental, education, fire, officer, leadership self-efficacy, training, quantitative

Copyright Page

Copyright 2023

by

Thomas J. Grady III

Dedication

This product of a long and enduring process is dedicated to many, as many have contributed to its success. Without any of you, I would not have been able to accomplish such a monumental commission. I have felt divinely directed throughout this journey to be where I am today. It has been a long journey, and I have to thank many who have taken the journey with me, alongside me, have pushed me, and have carried me on shoulders. All of you have greatly inspired me, I wish to express my feelings of your instrumentality, and I love you all!

To God, my God, I owe everything. You have given me strength when I had no strength. You have given me insight, when I failed to 'see.' You have given me time, when I seemed to be out of time. You have protected me from outside dangers and distractions when there were many. You have given me rest, when I wasn't immediately working toward this goal.

To my wife, Rachel, I owe so much. Without you, this was not possible. You have given me support in so many ways. These include love, trust, kindness, availability, and motivation, just to name a few. You have shared your love, the greatest of these. You have trusted me in this journey to succeed and to provide benefit. You have taken much upon your shoulders so I can have time and rest. You, along with the children, are my motivation! Your 100% commitment to me matches my 100% commitment to you. You are my soulmate, the love of my life, my companion, my very best friend, and I love you so, so much! Let us enjoy and celebrate our tremendous accomplishment together. Are you ready for the next step?

And to my children: Grace, Hope, Christian, and Faith, I owe so much. To you, I wanted to provide an example of how to succeed, how to tackle such a tall task, as well as show that an elephant can be eaten, even if it is just one bite at a time. Please understand what Paul divinely wrote in Philippians 4:13 – you too can do anything through Christ who strengthens you. Success and progression can be found through the grace of God, biological capacity, and good old fashion hard work. Biological capacity without hard work goes nowhere. Advanced degrees of hard work, grit, resiliency, and perseverance can overcome many obstacles and barriers. Remember, it is not about how fast you can run, but how well you can overcome the many hurdles in life. I hope that I have inspired you to strive for excellence in work and in play. If you want it bad enough, you will get it! You just have to find the *how*. Never get outworked! Effort is the one thing that you can always devote to even any potential inequities in the battleground. Find the loves in your life and pursue them with an unyielding desire and determination. Remember – Grady's never quit! Also remember – it is not about how hard you can hit, but about how hard you can get hit, and keep moving forward.

Be life-long learners, be inquisitive, and ask the question – why?

To my mother and father, through whom I have learned so much. To my late father – thanks for your encouragement! You always said that I would discover accomplishment. To my mother, what a great model of grit, perseverance, and resilience! You have paved the road for me and have planted a seed of fortitude. You have provided the grindstone and showed me how to put my nose to it! To my two sisters, rest of the family, and friends – Thank you so much for your support!

To my chair, methodologist, professors, and everybody else that has assisted me throughout this enduring and rewarding journey – thank you!

To all of my loved ones: thank you so much, and...

WE DID IT!!!

Abstract
List of Tables11
List of Figures
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION14
Overview14
Background14
Historical Overview15
Society-at-Large16
Theoretical Background17
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Significance of the Study23
Research Question
Definitions25
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW27
Overview
Theoretical Framework27
Self-Efficacy Theory28
Social Cognitive Theory
Adult Learning Theory
Related Literature
Leadership40

Table of Contents

Foundational Leadership	45
Education	46
Strategy	47
Evaluation	48
Servant Leadership	49
Leadership Training	
Leadership Self-Efficacy	54
Blue Card Fire Officer Training	55
Influence of Experience	
Summary	62
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	64
Overview	64
Design	64
Research Question(s)	65
Hypothesis	65
Participants and Setting	65
Population	66
Participants	66
Setting	67
Instrumentation	68
Procedures	70
Data Analysis	
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	74

Overview74
Research Question74
Null Hypothesis74
Descriptive Statistics
Results76
Data Screening76
Assumptions78
Results of the Null Hypothesis
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS
Overview
Discussion
Self-efficacy Theory92
Social Cognitive Theory93
Adult Learning Theory94
Implications
Limitations
Recommendations for Future Research101
REFERENCES
APPENDICES
Appendix A: Instrument – Leadership Self-Efficacy Scale
Appendix B: Survey Informational Sheet for Participants and Participant Consent Form135
Appendix C: Copy of Emailed Permissioned Use of the Instrument
Appendix D: IRB Approval

Appendix E: Copies	of Emailed Invitation	ons for Participant Invol	vement141
rippenenii 21 eepiee			

List of Tables

Table 1. Participants	67
Table 2. Education Level (EL)	67
Table 3. Treatment and Control Groups	75
Table 4. Descriptive Statistics – Mean Perceived Self-Efficacy Scores	76
Table 5. Tests of Normality	79
Table 6. Levene's Test of Equality of Error Variance	79
Table 7. Descriptive Statistics – Mean Perceived Self-Efficacy Scores	80

List of Figures

Figure 1. Box and Whisker Plot for Training77	1
Figure 2. Box and Whisker Plot for No Training	3

List of Abbreviations

Education Level (EL)

Emergency Medical Services (EMS)

Fire Department (FD)

Fire Officers – Training (FO-T)

Fire Officers – No Training (FO-NT)

General Self-Efficacy Scale (GSES)

Hazardous Materials (HAZMAT)

Houston Fire Department (HFD)

Hypothesis (H₀)

Institutional Review Board (IRB)

International Association of Fire Fighters (IAFF)

Leadership Self-Efficacy Scale (LSES)

Michigan Professional Fire Fighters Union (MPFFU)

National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH)

Sterling Heights Fire Department (SHFD)

United States Fire Administration (USFA)

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Overview

The purpose of this research study was to determine if a statistically significant difference exists in fire officer leadership self-efficacy of officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school. This chapter will investigate the background, history, social, and theoretical associations regarding the fire service, as well as the problem statement, purpose statement, significance of the study, research question, and definitions.

Background

When Ben Franklin started the fire service back in 1736 (Majerowicz, 2018), he probably never believed that it would evolve to become such a complex entity. Franklin's initial thought and desire was to develop an extinguishment division that was solely responsible for passing buckets of water from person to person to eventually be dumped onto burning materials called the bucket brigade (Decremer, 2018). It has now grown to exponential heights and is an art, as well as an intricate science (Buttenschon, 2016). The fire industry has demonstrated substantial developments in agendas, safety, and structure over that last 20 years (Simcock, 2020). Some other areas that have developed since Franklin include paramedicine, technical rescue, hazardous materials handling, high level of training, and such an intricate hierarchical leadership and practice focusing on incident command structure. Being that the industry has evolved to encompass much more than traditional extinguishment (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 2016), it is crucial to determine if leadership training has also evolved.

Historical Overview

Early research on leadership focused on the actual leaders themselves, virtually eliminating all other potential variables (Tannenbaum & Massarik, 1957). Since then, Burns (1978) defined leadership as a developmental human process that originated from the meeting of human needs. Bennis and Nanus (1985) detailed the core elements of leadership to include: maintaining organizational progression, translation of goals into practice, strategic planning, and ensuring supportive actions. More recently, Robbins (2000) believed leadership is defined as the ability to influence the members of an organization to achieve a vision or goal.

September 11th, 2001 changed how the fire service operates. Effective leadership is more important now than ever before since the events of 2001 (Buttenschon, 2016). Since then, the fire service has been challenged in many ways. Leadership has changed in many ways. Prognostication of today's leadership practices from 10 years ago is as inaccurate as it would be about 10 years from now (Sowcik & Amaladas, 2015). Per capita, the United States is one of the highest ranked countries of death rate to fire ratio (Buttenschon, 2016). There were 1,557,500 reported fires that resulted in 3,430 deaths, 17,675 injuries, and \$14.6 billion in property damage in 2007 (Andrews & Brewer, 2010). One way to improve this statistic is to improve fire leadership. In order to improve fire leadership, fire officer training must be a priority.

Ever since the infamous events of terrorism that occurred September 11th, 2001, where 343 firefighters paid the ultimate sacrifice, the fire service has been challenged in many ways (Smith et al., 2019). There have been many more incidents since that have posed their own unique challenges, like the Boston Marathon bombing, Paris attacks, and many active shootings (LaLone et al., 2020; Lesaffre et al., 2017; McIntire et al., 2017). One challenging aspect is that of leadership and how to respond to such infamy. Effective leadership is more important now

than ever before since the events of 2001 (Buttenschon, 2016), and leadership preparation begins with education.

Society-at-Large

In the fire service, leadership plays an immense role in the functioning and success of the organizations (Fiaz et al., 2017). An organization's success is directly related to its leaders' beliefs in their own capabilities to execute the necessary actions to achieve the desired results (Bandura, 1997). When fire crews are confronted with challenging circumstances, everyone reverts to the leaders. If an undesirable or unacceptable event occurs, it is the members in leadership that are questioned and held responsible. The definition of leadership is ever evolving (Miller, 2015), but it may be described as the recruitment of others and inspiration toward a shared vision (Kouzes & Posner, 2017).

Much like many other industries, the fire service is quite dynamic. One tactic to ensure that a group of firefighters maximize their effectiveness is through strong leadership (Buttenschon, 2016). Over the last couple of centuries, the fire service mission has been rooted in blue collar work, and that has not changed much over the years (Martin, 2020); however, the invention of technologies and progression of standards has led to many changes in fire strategies and tactics (Angle et al., 2019). Being that what dictates fire service engagements has been so dynamic, fire education has had to maintain the provision of necessary support modalities (Angle et al., 2019). It is up to fire leadership to advance and develop their respective fire departments to best combat such potentially challenging encounters of changing mission requirements, and responsibility resides with fire officer training to fully prepare the fire leaders of tomorrow (Griffith & Roberts, 2020).

Allio (2015) believed that it is the adoption and implementation of efficient strategies that best support organizational success. Strategies are one aspect that are learned from fire officer school. Given that the fire service is profoundly potentially dangerous, the importance of improving firefighting skillsets can be overdone (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 2016). Effective training is beneficial in many ways, including enabling firefighters to learn and practice strategies and tactics, improving understanding toward performing essential tasks, ensuring the proper use of equipment, and fostering teamwork (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 2016). Some such varieties of strategies include (a) fire ground tactics; (b) human resources management; (c) ethical response; (d) community outreach and education; (e) communications; (f) risk management; (g) health, safety, and wellbeing; (h) personnel management; (i) disaster mitigation; (j) strategic development, practice, and actualization; (k) training; physical fitness; and (l) protocol understanding (NFPA, 2013). According to Ash and Hodge (2016), there are five critical elements that must be included in leadership practice that includes focus on direction, building a powerful organization, ensuring student-focused vision and action, giving life to data, and leading learning. If selected officer training does not support these elements, it may be time to seek other means of education.

Theoretical Background

The theoretical framework surrounding leadership in emergency services involves theories which typically drive much of adult learning. These include self-efficacy theory (Bandura, 1977), social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986), and adult learning theory (Knowles et al., 2015). These three theories were utilized to assist in the understanding of leadership and how leadership develops in individuals. All are vital in providing understanding of the psychology of learning and are just a couple tools to explain how leadership advances. These theories are closely related, but also very different in contexts. Self-efficacy theory details how self-efficacy relates to the production of performance attainments (Bandura, 1977). Adult learning theory concerns the ways adults learn through traditional didactic means, and social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986) explains how adults learn through the observations of others. The central component of social cognitive theory is self-efficacy (Dixon et al., 2019). Social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986) states that self-efficacy leads to competency (Bandura, 1971). The focus of social cognitive theory concentrates on how human behavior and development are affected by cognitive processes.

One can learn what to do from others who practice successful exercises, but it may be just as effective to learn what not to do from others' mistakes (Viscuso, 2013). Learning from others contributes to learning, development, and confidence. When leaders are competent, subordinates are usually are confident. When leaders reach confident levels, they tend to find greater success. Leaders are at their best when they believe in their work (Alkadi, 2020).

One of the most critical steps is to determine the levels of leadership self-efficacy for each leader, find what can promote leadership self-efficacy, to develop a progression plan, deploy such plan, and reassess the plan for continued effectiveness. One of the foci in industry should be to develop successful leaders that are confident in their work. In regard to educational institutions, unfortunately, leaders have to prepare for the potential of school shootings. Leaders face newfound challenges in potential school shootings and massacres that was not as prominent just a decade ago. Educational leaders must develop strategic plans in case their institution must endure such infamy. Leaders must train in order to support operational response in the form of quick decision-making, managing resources, and assisting all individuals in such times (Brown, 2018). Having good rapport with the surrounding community as resources is critical to safety management (Jannetta, 2019).

Leader self-efficacy is imperative to the success of the teachers and the students. One of the greatest challenges in leadership is to assist leaders into reaching a level of high self-efficacy. Social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986) is the idea that humans learn through social means. It rationalizes learning through experiencing outside stimuli, evaluating such processes, collecting ideas, forming opinions, and using found opinions to make decisions and influence the outside world (Bandura, 1971).

Bandura believes that the greater the level of preparation for a particular experience, the greater the level of self-efficacy (Bandura, 1997). Bandura stated that a person's environment is constantly influencing the individual's behavior, and self-efficacy is the most integral element of a person's collection of knowledge (Bandura, 1997). Also, a person's self-efficacy is an individual's beliefs (e.g., how they feel, think, and where their behavior can be explained through motivation) that they are capable of achieving certain goals (Bandura, 1997). Not only is self-efficacy the belief in oneself, but also the confidence that they are able to conquer presented challenges (Ghadiri et al., 2018).

Bandura (1977) stated that self-efficacy may be derived from four states that include performance accomplishments, experience, verbal persuasion, and physiological states. If any of these areas lack, it may be difficult for leadership self-efficacy to flourish. Because new fire officers do not have experience in fire leadership, leadership self-efficacy may not have a chance to develop. With this said, fire officer education plays an immense role in the development of leadership self-efficacy, thus early success of fire officers. Consistent with adult learning theory (Knowles et al., 2015), adults take learning quite seriously and it is of great importance (Beder, 1989; Merriam, 1993). As adults mature, so do their respective motivations. Whereas children tend to have affinity toward what is fun, adults tend to take a more responsible direction. Another theory that has assisted in the understanding of self-efficacy is social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986). Adult learning theory details that adults need to possess a sense of autonomy and need to develop academic agency over their learning in order to maximize their potentials (Knowles et al., 2015). Adult learning theory operates under five assumptions that support self-concept, adult learner experience, readiness to learn, orientation to learning, and the motivation to learn (Halpern & Tucker, 2015).

Not only may these thoroughly examined and well-established theories be used to explain anything that is psychologically comprehended, but they also may easily be referenced to support the essential ideologies referring to the development of leadership. Adult learning theory and social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986) will assist in the illustration of leadership subtopics and assist in synthesizing findings to support such topics. One of the elements of adult learning theory is that learning is extremely important to adults (Beder, 1989; Merriam, 1993), and most leaders are adults.

From the public's perspective, fire officer training is of significant importance, as the decisions made by the ones in charge of rescuing citizens from danger or harm are influenced by such training (Schulte & Thielsch, 2019). This study seeks to determine if the current standard of officer training is sufficient enough to support fire officer leadership self-efficacy. In order to accomplish this task, this study will seek to determine if there is a significant difference in leadership self-efficacy of fire service leaders who attend officer school compared to those who do not attend. If it is not subjectively sufficient, or to a level leadership demands it to be, then

maybe leadership should seek other means of delivering such training imperative to the safety of their crews so they can best support the citizens.

Problem Statement

While there have been studies performed on specific military leadership training modalities and self-efficacy (Hudson, 2016; Meerits & Kivipõld, 2020; Myrseth et al., 2018), there is a paucity of literature of para-militaristic studies relating to the current standard of fire officer training. Military studies have determined a relationship between training and self-efficacy (Bergman et al., 2019). However, to date, literature of fire officer education related to self-efficacy is quite scarce.

Militaristic studies found that leadership has the potential to affect emotional intelligence, or awareness of the mindsets and outlooks of others, and that contributes to the development of much-needed skills (Shaaban, 2018). The fire service operates like a para-militaristic industry. Each department has ranks, and commanding officers issue orders to subordinates. In the police and fire industries, the most important element for any member to consider is safety (Malone, 2018). Safety leadership is the process of utilizing efforts to drive the safety value and supporting team success (Cooper, 2015). When leaders are confronted with various threats, how they respond is similar (Wei et al., 2016). As noted from Malone (2018), one of the main imperatives as a fire officer is to maintain safety amongst the crew members. Effective leadership is the fuel that directly influences team production (Carter, 2007). This concept is especially significant considering emergency services like the fire service (Carter, 2007). There is no doubt that firefighting is dangerous. There is a direct correlation between diminished leadership skills and an increase in danger to firefighters as well as the citizens in which they protect (Cote, 2003). Some of the potentially dangerous elements include rescuing endangered citizens, protect

citizens that are at risk, stabilizing the incident, slowing and stopping loss, fire control, and property conservation (Brunacini, 2002). The development of effective leaders who possess abilities to respond effectively in situations of crises is a precursor to safe and effective firefighting operations (Carter, 2007). The fire service structure is a purposefully designed and extremely specialized tool designed to mitigate a vast array of potential conditions of great personal danger and immediacy (Carter, 2007). When fire leaders are confronted with fire risks, their decision-making processes venture through a basic sequence of risk information collection, cognitive processing, to risk reduction (Liu & Jiao, 2018).

It is imperative to create an effective educational product that supports competent leadership. A contradiction exists between the profound demands of inexperienced fire officers' competencies and difficulty in developing proper characteristics in fire officer graduates (Bulgahov et al., 2019). New leaders must mitigate different issues than leaders of the past, and such issues require the utilization of progressive perspectives and strategies (Allio, 2015). There is a lack of research regarding a potential difference in leadership self-efficacy of fire service leaders who attend officer school compared to those who do not attend.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this quasi-experimental, nonequivalent control groups study was to determine if a statistically significant difference exists in fire officer leadership self-efficacy of officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school. This proposed study will employ a quasi-experimental, nonequivalent control groups design. The specific focus of self-efficacy in this study is leadership self-efficacy.

This study sought to provide robust discourse and in-depth investigation into the concept of leadership self-efficacy and leadership training. A gap in the literature was evident upon investigation. The independent variable is the presence of fire officer leadership training and are titled present and not present. The dependent variables are the leadership self-efficacy scores from the population of Fire Officers and future Fire Officers from the Houston Fire Department (HFD) and Sterling Heights Fire Department (SHFD).

HFD services the fourth most populous city - about 2,325,502 residents over an area of 665 square miles with 105 fire stations (Houston, 2022). The HFD is the third largest fire department in the United States, was established in 1838 (Houston, 2022), employs professional firefighters, all of which protect an urban community. SHFD protects the fourth most populous city (suburban) in the state of Michigan. It serves about 135,000 residents over an area of about 36 square miles with five fire stations. SHFD employs professional firefighters.

This study included a treatment group (Training) as well as a control group (No Training). A control group was added as this strengthens the internal validity of this experiment (Gall et al., 2007, p. 32). Leadership self-efficacy of prospective fire officers will be represented through the LSES and produce scores that assess for leadership self-efficacy. Such scores are derived from the same scale utilized to measure for leadership self-efficacy.

Significance of the Study

This study addressed the gap in the understanding of leadership by taking what is known, assessing what is not known, curating the data, and finalizing the report. This study seeks to add to the existing literature while attempting to further bridge the gap of understanding. Previous similar studies (Johannessen, 2017; Penney, 2016, 2019; Sedlmeyer & Dwyer, 2018) have concentrated on leadership qualities and fire operation and administrative dynamics or wildland firefighting (Butler et al., 2017; Castellnou et al., 2019; Eriksen et al., 2016; Reimer & Eriksen, 2018); however, the gap in the literature is considered an opportunity to progress understanding.

The phenomenon of leadership deals with influential objectives to achieve organizational feats (Naseer et al., 2016). The development of current leadership training initiatives is questionable (Lacerenza et al., 2017). This study aims to advance the existing body of knowledge through theoretical delineation, the curation and presentation of research findings, and through academic discussion. This study is extremely significant to the advancement of leadership studies, and thus every other element in the fire service. Leadership is a dynamic phenomenon (Miller, 2015). Leaders' positive self- concept enables them to recognize the possible opportunities for growth, as well as to develop a positive self-concept (Ross, 2014).

The approach, structure, and operations are similar in many ways between the police and fire industries (Wenger et al., 1989). Superior levels of self-efficacy in leadership are desired by the administration and municipal leadership for both disciplines. Many research studies have found, examined, and detailed the importance of self-efficacy in police leadership (Chu & Abdulla, 2014; Chu et al., 2020; Kwak et al., 2018; Love & Singer, 1988; Taris et al., 2010).

As a result of this study, members of the fire service are able to possess an understanding if there a significant difference in leadership self-efficacy of fire service leaders who attend officer school compared to those who do not attend. Information from this study will provide insight for fire department leaders, educators, and administrators to best support fire leadership that subsequently best supports the citizens that they vow to serve and protect. Critical leadership education is needed by all members who enter into leadership positions. While this study was focused in the metropolitan area of Houston, Texas, and Sterling Heights, Michigan, all municipal fire departments would benefit from the empirical findings of this study. The goal was to determine the effectiveness of fire officer training by utilizing the rendered empirical research findings to influence educational modalities of the current generation, the next generation, and scaffold to progress further generations.

Research Question

RQ1: Is there a difference in the fire officer leadership self-efficacy scores of officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school?

Definitions

- Affective processes Processes regulating emotional states and elicitation of emotional reactions (Bandura, 1994).
- 2. *Bad leadership* Leaders who exhibit behaviors that are associated with harmful consequences for followers and organizations (Stanley & Stanley, 2017).
- 3. *Cognitive processes* Thinking processes involved in the acquisition, organization, and use of information (Bandura, 1994).
- 4. *Desire* Human nature in activation (Lee, 2006).
- Fire Officer Any promoted or appointed officer position below that of chief fire officer. May include sergeant, lieutenant, captain, battalion chief, assistant chief, and deputy chief (Light, 2016).
- 6. *Good leadership* Understanding and finding comfort that leadership is dynamic, one must lead without the necessity for titles, must be able to connect with the organizations mission, be supportive of employee development, and provide opportunities to contribute in servitude (Miller, 2015).
- Grit Perseverance and passion to seek out and attempt to achieve long-term goals (Duckworth & Quinn, 2009).

- 8. *Leadership* "The process of interactive influence that occurs when, in a given context, some people accept someone as their leader to achieve common goals" (Silva, 2016, p. 4).
- 9. *Leadership self*-efficacy Leadership self-efficacy is defined as individuals' perceived judgment that they are capable of successfully exerting leadership through the deployment of direction setting of a group in order to gain commitment to work and modifying goals (Paglis & Green, 2002).
- Perceived self-efficacy Individual's beliefs about their own capabilities to produce effects (Bandura, 1994).
- 11. *Psychological momentum* Perceptual phenomenon of experiencing continued successes or failures (Iso-Ahola & Dotson, 2016).
- 12. *Self-efficacy* An individual's belief in their capacity to execute functions at a specific level of attainment (Bandura, 1977).
- Self-regulation Exercise of influence over one's own motivation, though processes, emotional states, and patterns of behavior (Bandura, 1994).
- 14. *Training* An organized procedure through which individuals obtain knowledge or improve skills for a defined purpose (Beach, 1985).

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Overview

This chapter serves as a review of the related literature as well as providing an examination into underlying theories and research for this study. This chapter provides insight into previous findings regarding fire service operations, leadership, and the theories that support such entities. This section also examines leadership self-efficacy, leadership self-efficacy scores, and leadership training. From such investigation, the necessity for research emerged as a gap in literature was made obvious regarding the effectiveness of introductory fire officer education. Three theories were utilized to assist in the understanding of leadership and how leadership develops in individuals. These include self-efficacy theory (Bandura, 1977), social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986), and adult learning theory (Knowles et al., 2015). This section will conclude with examination of and synthesis of available literature as it relates to the variables, followed by a summation.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework surrounding leadership in emergency services involves theories which typically drive much of adult learning. Understanding the foundational significance of the following theories is paramount to the advancement of adult learning, and thus, the support and advancement of the research of this study. These include self-efficacy theory (Bandura, 1977), social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986), and adult learning theory (Knowles et al., 2015).

Theories and conceptual perceptions have changed many times over the last half of a century (Hsieh & Tai, 2020). Early research on leadership focused on the actual leaders themselves, virtually eliminating all other potential variables (Tannenbaum & Massarik, 1957).

Since then, Burns (1978) defined leadership as a developmental human process that originated from the meeting of human needs. Bennis and Nanus (1985) detailed the core elements of leadership to include: maintaining organizational progression, translation of goals into practice, strategic planning, and ensuring supportive actions. More recently, Robbins (2000) believed leadership is defined as the ability to influence the members of an organization to achieve a vision or goal. Desired leadership dynamics occur when leaders and subordinates collaborate to create a product that is greater than the sum of the parts (Hsieh & Tai, 2020).

Theoretical exploration was performed to determine the best support for the basis of this study and to bolster and fortify its significance and potential implications. Learning and development are the common themes involved with these theories. Self-efficacy theory (Bandura, 1977), social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986), and adult learning theory (Knowles et al., 2015) were utilized to assist in the understanding of leadership and how leadership develops in individuals. All are imperative in providing understanding of the psychology of learning and are just a couple tools to explain how leadership advances. These theories are closely related, but also very different in contexts. Self-efficacy theory (Bandura, 1977) deals with how individuals perceive their capabilities and their relationship to their actions and outcomes. Social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986) explains how adults learn through the observations of others. Adult learning theory (Knowles et al., 2015) concerns the ways adults learn through traditional didactic means. It is important to note that no single theory encompasses learning, but each theory simply contributes to a global understanding of how individuals learn (Arghode et al., 2017).

Self-Efficacy Theory

This section serves as an examination of self-efficacy theory originally detailed by Bandura (2010). Self-efficacy is the major concentration of research within this study and the major premise of this topic and support for its findings. This section examines this theory and many subsequent works to provide an explanation of why self-efficacy is imperative to the success of a fire service officer.

Albert Bandura, a psychologist and professor emeritus, is the father and originator of theoretical construct of self-efficacy and self-efficacy theory (Pietluch, 2020). Contrary to previous works that concentrated on psychoanalysis, Bandura emphasized a more cognitive and informational processing approach that mediates social behavior (Grusec, 2020). The purpose of the establishment and detailing of self-efficacy theory was to bring to understanding of how individuals' perceived self-efficacy empowers them to employ control over the quality of their personal performance in order to control the course of their respective lives through successful management (Bandura & Bandura, 2006).

Perceived self-efficacy is defined as individuals' beliefs about their own capabilities to produce their desired levels of performance that influences particular events that affects their lives (Bandura, 2010). Bandura's profound research in self-efficacy theory displays that perceived self-efficacy influences educators and learners to create higher goals than many would with lesser degrees of perceived self-efficacy, as well as possessing a greater likelihood of possessing applied goal-achieving dedication (Bandura & Wood, 1989; Golas, 2010). The belief in oneself (self-efficacy) contributes to a person's interpretation of their capabilities and leads to their eventual successes in life (Bandura, 2010). Self-efficacy beliefs contribute to individual's cognition processes, affective, motivation, and selection processes (Bandura, 2010).

Individuals with low self-efficacy tend to avoid challenging endeavors, whereas people with high self-efficacy tend to consider challenges as tasks that they have the opportunity to overcome and master (Bandura, 2010). According to Bandura and Locke (2003), self-efficacy is

rooted in the fundamental conviction that the individual has the aptitude to conquer the current presented challenges; otherwise, there would be little incentive to actually attempt to overcome such challenges. This would explain why high-level officers enjoy challenges, similar to how high-level athletes enjoy high-level competition.

Fire officers must continue to strive for excellence. The development of student leader self-efficacy is crucial to learning experiences, that in return empowers students and promotes grit, resiliency, and perseverance (Astin & Astin, 2000; Cress et al., 2001). Grit is defined as perseverance and passion to seek out and attempt to achieve long-term goals (Duckworth & Quinn, 2009), is necessary in the approach toward challenging tasks, and has been found to greatly contribute to student learning success (Duckworth, 2016).

Self-efficacy is a trend that usually takes one of two routes. Either it continues down the road of unresolved ventures or it serves the possessor well and takes them to new heights. Self-efficacy is this strength that does not just support the attacking of initial challenges, but the increased interest and continued and developed steadfastness to progress one's related abilities (Bandura, 2010). The increasing of self-efficacy promotes greater self-efficacy through continued and further engrossment in undertakings (Bandura, 2010). This helps in the explanation of why successful people usually find continued success, why it is so difficult for struggling individuals to get out of ruts, why many fire officers seem to love what they do, and why others may seek other means of providing self-efficacy satisfaction.

Individuals who seek higher self-efficacy tend to pursue challenges, elevate their skills and performance to overcome their encounters, quickly recover from setbacks, attribute failure to the lack of received knowledge or skill, and are strongly committed (Bandura, 2010). Contrarily, the ones whose self-efficacy is low or developing tends to result in low aspirations, weak commitments, and succumb to the potential for failure through the unwillingness to confront such challenges (Bandura, 2010).

Attaining mastery levels of experiences builds self-efficacy (Bandura, 1994). In the fire service, it seems to take much time building significant experiences. By the time firefighters enter leadership roles, they may not have a significant number of emergency experiences that contribute to the maturing of leadership influence. Considering this dynamic, a greater emphasis must be placed on fire officer education.

Social persuasion is important in the development of leadership. According to Riggio (2017), the greatest contributing factors in leadership are power and influence. The ability to persuade others to adopt a leader's vision heavily influences the ability of the leader. If a leader loses the ability to influence, they lose the ability to support the model of a dynamic leader and follower (Riggio, 2017). A fire officer must know that they have the full support of the crew, and trust that they are willing to support the leader in dire circumstances.

The belief of oneself and abilities is important for the continuance of high levels of selfesteem. Transformational leadership is known to make efficient use of dynamics to support subordinate stimulation, progression, and cultivate buy-in (Bennis & Nanus, 1985). These types of leaders support self-confidence, performance, attitude, and intelligence enhancement through providing clear organizational goals (Bass, 1985). In a setting of educational foundations, selfefficacy is one of the greatest contributing factors that lead to educators' and learners' participation in pursuit of goal attainment through autonomic actions (Erlich & Russ-Eft, 2011).

The fashioning of leadership is determined by the motivations and needs of the ones being led. Burns (1978) detailed two dissimilar types of leadership, coined transforming leadership and transactional leadership. Transactional leadership is driven by the intrinsic motivations and necessities of subordinates; whereas transformational leadership is driven by subordinates' extrinsic motivations and needs (Burns, 1978). Transformational leadership seeks to promote each other through assessing for greater needs and through motivation (Burns, 1978).

A strong and significant relationship was found between transformational leadership and self-esteem (Matzler et al., 2015). Positive affirmation in the form of social persuasion may be influential in future leadership instances (Seibert et al., 2017). Positive thoughts and messages promote greater thoughts and images, and the promotion of such positive actions leads to greater future leadership influence (Seibert et al., 2017).

Social cognitive theory says that self-efficacy leads to teacher competency (Bandura, 1971). Learning from others contributes to continued learning, development, and confidence. When leaders are competent, subordinates usually are confident. When they reach confident levels, they tend to find greater success. Leaders are at their best when they believe in their work. Fire officers perform best when they possess high levels of self-efficacy or are confident and believe in their own capabilities. Confidence is derived from knowledge of a subject and/or successful experience (Bandura, 1994).

There are many potential sources of attaining high levels of self-efficacy. All are necessary to attain effective levels of leadership. Such potential sources of self-efficacy include: the mastery of experiences, vicarious models from social models, social persuasion, and enhancing positive self-beliefs while minimizing negative ones (Bandura, 2010). Vicarious models of leadership are an important element in the birth and development of a leader. The primary mechanism through which transformational leaders influence others is through the development of self-efficacy (House & Shamir, 1993). Role modeling is one of the greatest contributors to effective and transformational leadership (Pillai & Williams, 2004). Bandura's belief is that the greater the level of preparation for a particular experience, the greater the level of self-efficacy (Bandura, 1997). Bandura stated that a person's environment is constantly influencing the individual's behavior, and that self-efficacy is the most integral element of a person's collection of knowledge (Bandura, 1997). Also, a person's self-efficacy is individuals' beliefs (how they feel, think, and where their behavior can be explained through motivation) that they are capable of achieving certain goals (Bandura, 1997). Not only is self-efficacy the belief in oneself, but also the confidence that they are able to conquer presented challenges (Ghadiri et al., 2018). One of the challenges is to determine the levels of self-efficacy for each individual, identify what can promote self-efficacy of the individuals, and how the strategy may be orchestrated. Measurements of progress are some elements that may be used for improvement. The same can be said regarding self-efficacy.

Self-efficacy is an individual's belief in their capacity to execute functions at a specific level of attainment (Bandura, 1977). An individual's perceived self-efficacy is the individual's beliefs about their own capabilities to produce effects (Bandura, 1994). It is this belief that is the basic foundation of human motivation, performance accomplishments, and emotional well-being (Bandura, 1997, 2006). Individuals (such as fire officers) who do not believe in their capabilities from previous experiences affects their actions and are less apt to undertake difficult tasks and persevere when times become difficult (Bandura, 1997). What guides and motivates human behavior is rooted in the belief that individuals are able to make a difference with their actions (Bandura, 1997).

Individuals with high and low self-efficacy in their abilities seem to approach challenges in different manners. People with low self-efficacy tend to avoid challenging endeavors, whereas people with high self-efficacy tend to consider challenges as tasks that they have the opportunities to overcome and master (Bandura, 2010). This would explain why high-level officers enjoy challenges, just like how high-level athletes enjoy high-level competition.

Fire officers must continue to strive for excellence. Self-efficacy is a trend that usually takes one of two routes. Either it continues down the road of unresolve, or it serves the possessor well and takes them to new heights. Self-efficacy is this strength that does not just support the attacking of initial challenges, but the increased interest and continued and developed steadfastness to progress one's related abilities (Bandura, 2010). Organizations can choose to attempt to succeed or fail, and such potential outcomes are dependent upon the grooming of leadership within such organizations (Bobade & Kharghar, n.d.). The increasing of self-efficacy promotes greater self-efficacy through continued and further engrossment in undertakings (Bandura, 2010). This helps in the explanation of why successful people usually find continued success, and why it is so difficult for struggling individuals to get out of ruts. Psychological momentum (PM) plays a critical component in personal achievement and success (Iso-Ahola & Dotson, 2016). The perceptual phenomenon of PM would explain why successful leaders tend to encounter continued successes and why it is difficult to reverse PM toward a favorable trend (Iso-Ahola & Dotson, 2016). It would also explain why many fire officers seem to love what they do, and why others may seek other means of developing and progressing leadership selfefficacy. Many times, partially due to complacency, it may be quite difficult for individuals to escape the 'fur-lined rut' where they may reside (Kelliher & Richardson, 2018).

An immense amount of time and effort was performed by the researcher in order to secure exactly pertinent information from literature to no avail. This study attempts to derive useful and pertinent liturgical information from other studies; however, the current theoretical exploration and verification of the topic of leadership in the fire service is quite sparse (Hsieh & Tai, 2020). A review of the literature found that there were no found peer-reviewed literature on leadership self-efficacy of fire service leadership and officer training.

Social Cognitive Theory

Social cognitive theory and self-efficacy theory occupy some overlap, and both assist in the comprehension of learning and development. According to social cognitive theory, it is the tool of self-efficacy that best contributes to the application of learned knowledge to new situations and overcome challenges (Seibert et al., 2017). It is necessary in fire officer education to include an element of problem solving, as the success of overcoming challenges increases self-efficacy and better equips individuals for tackling future challenges (Bandura, 1994); as there it seems as though every instance has distinct characteristics.

Along with self-efficacy theory, Bandura also developed social cognitive theory. Social cognitive theory explains how fire officers learn through emulating behaviors and reactions to outside stimuli that warrants a reactive response to lead in times of emergency (Bandura, 1971). Through fire officer training, prospective fire officers are drilled in fireground tactics. This cognitive training prepares eventual fire officers to provide leadership response to fire service-related issues and provide the who, what, when, where, why, and how to mitigate such issues.

Bandura (1994) stated that the most effective way to develop self-efficacy is through the mastery of experiences. Where fireground tactics are ever dynamic, there are many major themes that tend to be repeated. Fire officer education thrives in the delivery of repetitive decision-making scenarios and conveyance of desired and undesirable results.

Social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986) states that self-efficacy leads to competency (Bandura, 1971). Learning from others contributes to learning, development, and confidence. When leaders are competent, subordinates usually are confident. When they reach confident

levels, they tend to find greater success. Leaders are at their best when they believe in their work. Finding success through personal accomplishments directly leads to successful future outcomes (Fitzgerald & Schutte, 2010).

Leader self-efficacy is imperative to the success of the teachers and the students. One of the greatest challenges in leadership is to assist leaders to reach a level of high self-efficacy. Social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986) is the idea that humans learn through social means. It rationalizes learning through experiencing outside stimuli, evaluating such processes, collecting ideas, forming opinions, and using found opinions to make decisions and influence the outside world (Bandura, 1971).

Bandura (1977) stated that self-efficacy may be derived from four states that include: performance accomplishments, experience, verbal persuasion, and physiological states. If any of these areas lack, it may be difficult for self-efficacy to flourish. Being that new fire officers do not have experience in fire leadership, leadership self-efficacy may not have a chance to develop. With this said, fire officer education plays an immense role in the development of leadership self-efficacy, thus early success of fire officers.

Adult Learning Theory

Malcolm Knowles was an adult educator and is widely considered to be the father of adult learning (Celli & Young, 2017). Knowles (1978) popularized the study of andragogy, or the facilitated and developmental processes that assist adult learning. Knowles was known for comparing and contrasting the differences in learning processes between children and adults (Merriam & Caffarella, 1999). Consistent with adult learning theory (Knowles et al., 2015), adults take learning quite seriously and it is of great importance (Beder, 1989; Merriam, 1993). As adults mature, so do their respective motivations. Whereas children tend to have affinity
toward what is fun, adults tend to take a more responsible direction. Adult learning theory details that adults need to possess a sense of autonomy and need to develop academic agency over their learning in order to maximize their potentials (Knowles et al., 2015). Taris et al. (2010) found that a greater level of autonomy promotes greater learning, and in turn, develops greater level of self-efficacy. This cannot be any more evident than in fire officer training, as their graduation from the programs will thrust the graduates into managerial positions where they must make daily crew-influencing decisions. Adult learning theory operates under five assumptions that support self-concept, adult learner experience, readiness to learn, orientation to learning, and the motivation to learn (Halpern & Tucker, 2015).

Adults are motivated to engage in educational undertakings for three main reasons, that include goal-achievement, socialization, and/or to seek knowledge to satisfy curiosity (Khattab & Wong, 2018). There are many potential links between adult learning theory (Knowles, 1984) and leadership development. For the most part, each adult has autonomy over themselves and their learning. Adult learning tends to be determined by the adult learner. The needs and wants, as well as the when and where, is determined by the adult learning through adult experiences and societal influence (Merriam & Caffarella, 1999).

Within the context of adult learning theory (1984), Knowles made five assumptions that detailed characteristics of adult learners that include (a) self-concept, (b) adult learner experience, (c) readiness to learn, (d) orientation to learning, and (e) motivation to learn (Knowles, 1984). As individuals advance in life, they reach a point where they transition from a dependent being to one that is self-directed and developing self-concept (Knowles, 1984). Most fire officers rise through the ranks of the occupation, whether benefiting from seniority promotions or through testing, from being a probationary firefighter to where they advance to a leadership position. Probationary firefighters are quite dependent upon their officers and everyone else in their respective crews. As they mature and become more knowledgeable and experienced, they develop a self-concept. As the adult learner experiences life, their knowledge repertoire increases (Knowles, 1984). As firefighters advance, they register their memories through learning in a bank of retention to potentially be used in future similar instances.

As adult learners advance through the adult stages in life, they tend to focus on developmental tasks that allow them to fill social roles (Knowles, 1984). Each firefighter has certain roles and responsibilities. Truck companies are often responsible for laddering structures and forceable entry. Rescue companies are often responsible for rescues. Engine companies are often responsible for fire extinguishment and medical emergencies. Each individual on each of the aforementioned apparatuses are also responsible for certain obligations. As adult learners advance in their understanding and their ability of learning, they develop advanced thinking that allows the learners to immediately use what they had previously postponed, and their advanced level of thinking allows advancing adult learners to move from subject-centered practicum to one that is problem centered (Knowles, 1984). Just like advancing thinking through the stages of Bloom's Taxonomy (1956) from simple remembering to creation, adults soon switch from a primitive manner of thinking to a more advanced attainment. The fifth assumption depicts adult learners' motivation to learn and their intrinsic orientation (Knowles, 1984).

There are many potential extrinsic and intrinsic motivational entities, but when considering the fifth assumption and fire officer scholarship, the fire officer determines what drives their standings and continued sustenance in their respective roles. Some intrinsic factors of the adult learner that may provide motivation to possess greater enjoyment in the role of fire officer and belief in that role providing a greater purpose and influence. Some external factors may include prestige and increase in salary. Putra et al. (2017) found that intrinsic motivation leads to an improved work engagement, which leads to an improvement in work performance. They also found that extrinsic motivation did not influence the effectiveness of intrinsic motivations (Putra et al., 2017).

Knowles detailed four principles of andragogy, that includes: the need for adults to be involved in the planning and evaluation of their instruction, experience (whether perceived successes or perceived failures) provides the basis for learning activities, adults are more concerned with learning material that is of immediate relevance that they may be able to utilize to support their needs and their wants in the near future, and adults advance learning from content-centered to problem-centered philosophies (Knowles, 1984). One of the responsibilities of fire officers is to determine, design, and deliver fire-related trainings. They are responsible for their own training, as well as the training of their crews. Adult learners who are responsible for what and when they learn are able to progress their personal learning greater than when someone else chooses the material or topic (Arghode et al., 2017). What commonly drives the topic of fire officer choice training is previous experience, and the needs and wants of the crew. Considering fire officer training, there is much to learn in limited time. Motivated learners usually possess the ability to lessen the potential challenges to learning (Arghode et al., 2017). Much of what fire officers learn will assist them in the immediate future. One of the typical greatest strengths of the fire officer is problem-solving. They are usually very able to take learned cognitive knowledge and succeed at the transference of such knowledge into the ability to mitigate tribulations.

Related Literature

This section shows support that at least partially fills the void in the literature regarding the appropriateness of the current standard of initial fire officer education. While the empirical

39

findings of leadership are strong and extensive, not much attention has been devoted to fire service officer education. While this topic is still developing, this study provides an advancement in understanding to advance this crucial and essential area of study.

Leadership

Ben Franklin, who is known as the father of the fire department, stated that "without continual growth and progress, such words as improvement, achievement, and success have no meaning" (Atkinson, 2019, p. 1). Over the last couple of centuries, the fire service mission has been rooted in blue collar work, and that has not changed much over the years (Martin, 2020); however, the invention of technologies and progression of standards has led to many changes in fire strategies and tactics (Angle et al., 2019). Fire department undertakings have changed much over the last few years (Griffith & Roberts, 2020). Considering that the elements that dictate fire service engagements has been so dynamic, fire education has had to maintain the provision of necessary support modalities (Angle et al., 2019).

In the fire service, leadership plays an enormous role in the functioning and success of the respective organizations. The main function of leadership exists in the internal maintenance and external adaptations of the organization to ensure continuous and stable growth (Hsieh & Tai, 2020). The definitions of leadership (Miller, 2015) and leadership training and development (Tracy, 2004) are ever evolving, but they may be utilized to describe a definition that includes the recruitment of others and inspiration toward a shared vision (Kouzes & Posner, 2017). Leadership may also be defined as the ability or processes utilized to motivate or influence individuals to achieve organizational goals (Kesting et al., 2016). Success in leadership concerns the development of leaders' self-esteem (Fiaz et al., 2017). The primary focus of successful leadership includes the successful transition of visions and goals into fruition (Robbins, 2000), as

well as the assurance and maintenance of continued development, successful planning and plan implementation, and structure creation (Bennis & Nanus, 1985). The success of organizational objectives is not possible without the inclusion of workers (Irawati, 2020). Individuals tend to actively develop in their respective organizations' undertakings, due to the fact of the natural inclination to assume roles in planning, acting, and in the realization of organizational goals and objectives (Córdova et al., 2019; Cui et al., 2019; Sharafoddin & Emsia, 2016).

The organizational dynamics of the fire department are ascertained by the respective governing bodies and consists of a highly structured hierarchy (Meyer et al., 2018). Firefighters, including fire officers, are exposed to continuous training instances and opportunities; however, there are mandatory fire officer certification programs that prospective fire officers need to satisfy prior to the promotion of sergeant, lieutenant, captain, and other ranks. The National Fire Protection Agency (NFPA) is the governing organization that mandates officers complete Fire Officer I, II, and III prior to assuming certain fire officer positions (NFPA, 2013). Fire Officer I is taken prior to assuming an apparatus boss position (e.g., sergeant or lieutenant). Fire Officer II prior to taking a station boss position (e.g., captain). Fire Officer III prior to leading a shift (e.g., battalion chief; NFPA, 2013). This related literature section will examine the related literature and relationship to the variables of the study. This was performed by examining the academic contributions to leadership literature, extracting fundamental historical views of leadership, detailing organizational leadership, investigating definitions of leadership, emphasizing the roles of leadership, studying leadership strategies and the effects of inferior leadership, and exploring the interpersonal relationships of leaders and subordinates.

Leadership has changed in many ways. Prognostication of today's leadership practices from 10 years ago is as inaccurate as it would be about 10 years from now (Sowcik & Amaladas, 2015). Per capita, the United States is one of the highest ranked countries of death rate to fire ratio (Buttenschon, 2016). There were 1,557,500 reported fires that resulted in 3,430 deaths, 17,675 injuries, and \$14.6 billion in property damage in 2007 (Andrews & Brewer, 2010). One way to improve this statistic is to improve fire leadership. In order to improve fire leadership, fire officer training must be a priority.

Leadership is one of the least understood social sciences, even though it is one of the most studied (Bennis & Nanus, 1985). Leadership has adopted many meanings throughout history and is a term that is extensively used in industries, such as academia, business, and politics (Hsieh & Tai, 2020). Leadership cannot simply be defined by examining the psychological and physical qualities of individuals (Tannenbaum et al., 2013). Leadership has been related to such entities such as in detailing the construct of the relation of power, a modality of goal attainment, interpersonal effectiveness, a specific and determined role, attributes of personality, structure initiation, group process foci, the process of demanding compliance, and in influential and persuasive applications (Hsieh & Tai, 2020). Leadership's primary function exists for internal maintenance, external adaptability, and progressive sustainability (Hsieh & Tai, 2020).

Leadership in any organization is one of the most crucial components that contributes to success (Fiaz et al., 2017). Leadership is especially important in industries where leadership are often thrust into life-or-death situations where there is no tolerance for erroneous judgments. Now, more than ever before, addressing the current state of leadership crisis involves defining appropriate leadership (Fiaz et al., 2017). This study sought to determine if there is a significant difference in leadership self-efficacy of fire service leaders who attend officer school compared to those who do not attend. Leadership is a dynamic phenomenon (Miller, 2015). The

phenomenon of leadership deals with influential objectives to achieve organizational feats (Naseer et al., 2016). This study is extremely significant to the advancement of leadership, and thus, every other element in the fire service.

The definition of a leader may be an individual who directs, encourages, and manages all undertakings to maximize performance of an organization in order to attain desired organizational goals (Irawati, 2020). A desired leadership dynamic occurs when leaders and subordinates collaborate to create a product that is greater than the sum of the parts (Hsieh & Tai, 2020). Leaders who develop clear and distinct goals contribute to project success (Aga, 2016). Achieving organizational goals is directly associated with employee performance (Huertas-Valdivia et al., 2019).

Initial leadership research had focused on the leader as the individual being, essentially excluding many of the potential variables (Tannenbaum & Massarik, 1957). The study of fire service leadership is in its infancy. Even though the quantity of research studies related to the needs of fire organizations have increased year by year (Hsieh & Tai, 2020), much needs to be ascertained to maximize the effectiveness of fire officer education.

Maxfield and Russell (2017) performed a phenomenological study that examined leadership of emergency services and found three common themes that include: self-awareness of legitimacy, self-regulation through ethical/value-based leadership, and leader affect through emotional intelligence. Self-awareness of legitimacy did not mean that leadership legitimacy is not due to the positioning of authority, but through experience, education, attention to detail, and the awareness to influence. Successful self-regulation through ethical and value-based leadership is reflected in leaders that do not just show what should be done, but what can be done. Leadership that is predicated on values and ethics should not just present a list of necessary tasks, but to lead their people to greater level of production potential. Leadership affect through emotional intelligence refers to not just the ability to influence, but to allow and promote a sense of belonging, validation, and empowerment of subordinates (Maxfield & Russell, 2017).

While the leadership industry has thrived over the last decade, leaders have performed poorly in many ways (Maxfield & Russell, 2017). Leadership plays a critical role in industries such as military and education (Hsieh & Tai, 2020). Leadership in the fire service, much like in other industries, comes in various types and styles that are supported by countless variations of skills, abilities, and purposeful education (Hsieh & Tai, 2020). Without good leadership, fire departments may not meet their efficiency needs (Compton & Granito, 2002). The fire service is not like most industries, and leadership in the fire service is not like leadership in other industries. In fact, fire departments need strong leadership more than the majority of other industries (Kupietz, 2010).

Leadership is the trunk in the dichotomy from which the organizational branches extend. The inclusion of leadership is often considered to be the lifeblood of an organization, and the key to its success within emergency services may lie in the hands of such leadership (Maxfield & Russell, 2017). Positions of leadership in the fire service require an extensive range of proficiencies to overcome challenges (Schulte & Thielsch, 2019). Leadership is a trained skillset, and many U.S. companies, like Disney, have brought great leaders up through the ranks of their companies to advance the United States to the pinnacle of industrialization (Smeby, 2005).

Leadership flourishes and is evident in the process of human development (Burns, 1978). Leaders play a vital function in the production of future leaders (Buttenschon, 2016). Good leadership has a trickle-down effect. One of the keys to the assurance of a successful leadership pipeline is to support leadership through the development of abilities, motivation, and inspiration (Bobade & Kharghar, n.d.). It is the dispersal of information and knowledge throughout an organization that best promotes rapid and effective decision making (Allio, 2015). In training, humans build conscious cognitive memories that support leadership decisions in hasty environments. Training also provides the ability to act based on natural intuition. Also, when considering ethics, unethical leadership promotes and fosters bad environments that end up promoting unethical future leadership (Cialdini et al., 2019). Cialdini et al. (2019) found that members of a group that was led by an unethical leader were more likely to engage in future unethical behavior.

The fire service and police service are similar in many ways (Aubry & Wandrei, 2020). They both have adopted and operate under para-militaristic procedures; they require preservice, academy-style initial education; and they both are committed to providing education to upcoming and newly promoted officers. One challenge is to determine how to best support future leaders in leadership roles in such industries (Roberts et al., 2016). According to Williams and Robinson (2004), police officer training does not support the cognitive nor psychomotor needs of officers. However, according to Herrington (2017), they have found to possess greater communication skills, improved organization skills, better understanding of complex conceptual and managerial issues, and are better leaders.

Foundational Leadership

Each fire department has a hierarchal structure that consists of a chain of command (Light, 2016). Every department consists of different variations; but the structure of natural progression consists of entry-level firefighter, sergeant, lieutenant, captain, battalion chief, assistant chief, and fire chief. This study considered the emergency-response training of the ranks of sergeant, lieutenant, captain, and battalion chief. Administration of such ranks of the natural progression usually requires the satisfactory completion and graduation of officer training respective to the corresponding rank.

The position of fire officer is complex. The fire officer must master the ability to manage technical, human, and conceptual skills; master significant leadership experiences; and must develop an advanced level of self-awareness (Light, 2016). Once the prospective fire officer has reached promotion-ready status, it is then time to satisfy the departmentally required certification processes.

Education

Educational provinces of learning include cognitive, psychomotor, and affective domains (Sönmez, 2017), and there is no present variance from the fire service. Some of the potential questions in the deliverance of education spotlights the cognitive/psychomotor enigma of balanced education. Another regards the content and andragogy of such education. Roberts et al. (2016) believed that it would behoove officers in the enforcement industry to be educated and conditioned to possess high-level critical and creative thinking skills that complex emergencies warrant.

Leadership has the opportunity to affect progression, development, success, mood, and satisfaction in any organization. Just because an individual occupies a leadership position does not necessarily confer that such individual is a good leader (Kellerman, 2012). Good leadership is the dispersal of information and knowledge throughout an organization that best promotes rapid and effective decision making (Allio, 2015). Leaders play a vital function in the production of future leaders (Buttenschon, 2016). Good leaders cultivate good leaders (Buttenschon, 2016) through a development process based on education, and the contrary is true regarding poor leadership.

Ever since the infamous events of terrorism that occurred September 11th, 2001, where 343 firefighters paid the ultimate sacrifice, the fire service has been challenged in many ways. There have been many more incidents since, like the Boston Marathon bombing, Paris attacks, and many active shootings. One challenging aspect is that of leadership and how to respond to such infamy. Effective leadership is more important now than ever before since the events of 2001 (Buttenschon, 2016), effective leadership is absolutely essential for sound fire operations (Hsieh & Tai, 2020), and leadership preparation begins with education.

Strategy

Leaders need to attain proficient levels of organizational goal fulfillment, interpersonal communication, human capital management, and finance (Fiaz et al., 2017). In the fire service, fire officers are responsible for strategic planning, both prior to incidents and while working within incidents. Fire officers must maximize their performance, as well as the performance of their crew, battalion, and department. Performance is measured by the achievement of strategic planning as part of program policy implementation in support of the organizational mission (Moeheriono, 2018).

Much like many other industries, the fire service is quite dynamic. One tactic to ensure that a group of firefighters maximize their effectiveness is through strong leadership (Buttenschon, 2016). This study sought to determine if there is a significant difference in leadership self-efficacy of fire service leaders who attend officer school compared to those who do not attend. Allio (2015) believed that it is the adoption and implementation of efficient strategies that best support organizational success. Strategies are one aspect that is learned from fire officer school. Some examples of strategies include (a) fire ground tactics; (b) human resources management; (c) ethical response; (d) community outreach and education; (e) communications; (f) risk management; (g) health, safety and wellbeing, and personnel management; (h) disaster mitigation; (i) strategic development, practice, and actualization; (j) training; (k) physical fitness; and (l) protocol understanding, just to name a few.

While desirable leadership styles and attributes have been studied at great lengths, poor leadership styles have recently received attention. Some of the found attributes that lead to poor leadership include tyranny, abuse, undermining, destruction, and despotic leadership (Naseer et al., 2016). If fire administration provides optimum officer training, the officers are best equipped to serve their crews. If their crews are best equipped, they are then best suited to render care to the citizens of which they serve. If the officers are ill-equipped, this will also tend to trickle down in a negative fashion and increase the propensity of all members exhibiting some of the aforementioned destructive attributes.

Error in judgment of a fire service officer may result in the loss of human lives (Buttenschon, 2016). Mentorship in the fire service is minimal to nonexistent. This places a greater emphasis on early training. There is a cascading effect to training and education in the fire department. It is the duty of the fire officer to deliver educational opportunities to the usually less experienced firefighters (Maru, 2017).

Evaluation

One of the responsibilities of fire officers is to perform the evaluation of subordinates. Evaluation is essential to determine where one stands, and the projection of one's future. The purpose of fire performance evaluations is to measure the extent of the performance of employees to formulate progressive courses of action to provide essential benefits to both the individual, and subsequently to the organization (Irawati, 2020). Performance evaluations are essential to fire departments in order to determine abilities, goal acceptance, goal achievement, and to determine corrective methods (Irawati, 2020).

In the perspective of leadership, leaders do not just have to care for themselves, but of others as well (Greenleaf, 1970). Greenleaf (1970) stated that a successful leader is an individual who has adopted a servant heart and attitude and ensures others' needs are met before their own. He then further detailed that leaders who adopt these philosophies develop into leaders of authenticity (Greenleaf, 1970). Servant leadership, first detailed by Greenleaf (1970), is an environment of occupation where leaders satisfy subordinates' needs to employ growth (Russell, 2016b). Much like Maslow's hierarchy of needs (1943), basic needs must be met prior to the advancement of the person.

Servant Leadership

Leadership and servanthood may be closely related. Hsieh and Tai (2020) stated that servant leadership begins with a natural desire to serve others first, and such conscious decision further develops leaders' aspiration to lead. Any single leadership behavior or decision affects and changes the course of the entire organization (Hsieh & Tai, 2020). In order for an organization to experience opportunistic operational outcomes, effective leadership is essential (Hsieh & Tai, 2020). The transition of becoming a leader to *being* a leader generates leaders' self-actualization (Maslow & Lewis, 1987), who in part finds authority, strength, and success (Greenleaf, 1996; Russell, 2016a; Sendjaya, 2015).

Obviously, servant leadership in the fire service is a desirable leadership philosophy, but it is also how subordinates in the fire service interpret the roles and responsibilities of leaders (Russell, 2016a; Russell et al., 2018). One of leaders' responsibilities in the fire service is to manage emergency scenes; however, there is much more to leadership of the fire officer than just scene management. The most important element in fire officer leadership is what is done before and after incidents (Maxfield & Russell, 2017). This may include preparation of emergency scene mitigation responses and after-action practices.

Leadership Training

The definition of leadership is ever evolving (Miller, 2015), but it may be described "to enlist others and inspire a shared vision" (Kouzes & Posner, 2017, p. 133). Leadership cannot simply be defined by examining the psychological and physical qualities of individuals (Tannenbaum et al., 2013). It is when leader and subordinates are able to collaborate their actions to accomplish more than the simple sum of the parts where a good leadership interaction is defined (Hsieh & Tai, 2020).

Good leadership may be defined as understanding and finding comfort that leadership is dynamic; leaders must lead without the necessity for titles; leaders must be able to connect with the organization's mission, be supportive of employee development, and provide opportunities to contribute to servitude (Miller, 2015). This is in contrast to inferior leadership that occurs when leaders exhibit behaviors that are associated with harmful consequences for followers and organizations (Stanley & Stanley, 2017). Recognizing training requirements and training needs is critical to operational success (Huddlestone & Pike, 2017). Through such analysis, leaders are able to accurately determine the functional definition of training audience (Huddlestone & Pike, 2017).

Firefighters spend many hours in training, as the fire service necessitates such quantity of training due to its complexity and dynamic nature. Training may be defined as an organized procedure through which individuals obtain knowledge or improve skills for a defined purpose (Beach, 1985). This may also be interpreted as the product of teaching and learning activities for

the primary purpose of assisting members of an organization in the acquisition and application of the necessary cognitive, psychomotor, and affective attributes and skills that assist members of an organization to perform a particular job.

This world necessitates that employment of leadership extends beyond the knowledge and expertise of the actual leaders (Roberts et al., 2016). It is important to note that leaders must consider formal education as an enabler to learning as opposed to adopting an inadequately justified mindset that formal learning is an end in and of itself (Roberts et al., 2016). Much of what is learned from formal training should be considered in field command strategies, but as a tool to assist in the interpretation of key findings from a field assessment and not necessarily to be accepted as strategy of 100% certainty. This philosophy is imperative to the building of a successful educational pathway for leadership (Roberts et al., 2016). Fire officers must continue to strive for an improving their educational experience, as this improves an individual's repertoire of understanding (Knowles, 1984) and leads to an enhanced fire officer.

Training provides many essential elements for desired leadership. In training, individuals build conscious cognitive memories that support leadership decisions in hasty environments. Training also provides the ability to act based on natural intuition. Also, when considering ethics, unethical leadership promotes and fosters bad environments that end up promoting unethical future leadership (Cialdini et al., 2019).

Education is an important tool that is able to build leadership capabilities throughout organizations and for the development of a climate of critical thinking (Roberts et al., 2016). Continued education and learning assist in the progression of organizations to comprehend potential new ways of operation, which is necessary for such a dynamic and complex industry (Roberts et al., 2016). Fire organizations need to establish a more strategic approach in the identification and creation of educational opportunities for fire officers. The effectiveness of learning rests within the students' underlying ability to learn (Roberts et al., 2016). Knowledge attainment is available to the ones who capture the opportunities. The most important role in education is grounded in equipping individuals toward becoming greater leaders (Roberts et al., 2016).

Much of the existing literature has concentrated on the firefighter position, but leadership studies are of greater importance as leadership affects the whole institution. Every day, fire officers are thrust into an uncertain environment and are responsible to stabilize such environment while mitigating unfortunate circumstances (Sienkiewicz-Malyjurek, 2016). Fire officer leadership training is the necessary training that every fire officer must suffice prior to promotion at any leadership position. This includes promotion to sergeant, lieutenant, captain, and chief. Without such training, a promotion may not occur.

There may be greater challenges for occupational advancement for women in the fire service, and that gender differences exist when considering education and fire department leadership (Bentley et al., 2016). There is a greater challenge for women to advance into chief positions. While there are many more males than females in the fire service and police service, with an estimated 87% of police officers and 96% of firefighters being male (Bentley et al., 2016), women were presented with many other challenges not present in the advancement process of males, that include sexism, career penalties pertaining to family responsibilities that were not present in the male experience, fewer role models and sponsors, and less developed networks (Parkinson et al., 2019). The investigation of the advancement of women in chief positions in the fire service resulted in acknowledging four themes that include transformational leadership, barriers, diversifying assignments, and education (Ballaro & Blanchard, 2018).

Education assists an individual to advance into leadership positions. Ballaro and Blanchard (2018) found that for any women to advance into chief positions, the pursuit of higher education and training is not just significant factors that contribute to success in this arena but are necessary. Martin (2020) stated that some firefighters received promotions largely because they have a college degree even though competitors possess more experience and occupational knowhow.

According to the United States Fire Administration (USFA; 2020), there is not a specific agency or program that holds jurisdiction to regulate the standards and competencies for fire officers. The main resource for guidance in operations in the fire service is from the NFPA (Light, 2016). The NFPA (2013) identifies the performance requirements that are necessary for the duties and promotion of a fire officer. It outlines six components for fire officer training to include: human resource management, community and government relations, administration, inspection and investigation, emergency services delivery, emergency management, and health and safety (NFPA, 2013). Along with outlining the fire officer education requirements, it also outlines the minimum job performance requirements that are necessary to perform the duties of a fire officer. These include: four levels of progression and are (a) Fire Officer 1 supervisory level, (b) Fire Officer 2 supervisory/managerial level, (c) Fire Officer 3 managerial/administrative level, and (d) Fire Officer 4 administrative level (NFPA, 2013). While this is the standard and many departments follow this exclusively, they are also simply guidelines.

The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH; 2016) states that Blue Card is 100% based on command safety, fire command, and the eight functions of command (Blue Card, 2018). Blue Card consists of nine asynchronous online education modules, and a one-day psychomotor training session and testing. Function 1 is Deployment: Resource Management and Staging. Function 2 is Assume, Confirm and Position Command. Function 3 is Situation Evaluation. Function 4 is Strategy and Incident Action Planning. Function 5 is Communications. Function 6 is Organization. Function 7 is Review, Evaluate, Revise. Function 8 is Continue, Support, and Terminate Command. The psychomotor sessions include 4 sections. These include Mayday Operations, Managing Multi-Patient Emergency Medical Services (EMS) Incidents, Managing Violent Incidents, and Managing Hazardous Materials (HAZMAT) Incidents.

Emergent situations require emergent response. This requires leadership to master many elements of emergent leadership. When managing emergency scenes, leadership is not just faced with the emergency at hand, but the stressors are heavily compounded by time, pressure, and consequence (Maxfield & Russell, 2017). Such processes do not enjoy the luxury of reflection, contemplation, and long-term analysis (Maxfield & Russell, 2017), but leadership must absorb all training to create the leader who will eventually respond to emergencies that require such preparation. Fire officers also have an additional element that most leaders in other industries do not usually encounter. Fire officers often have to provide leadership direction when they are physically and mentally fatigued. This is where leadership from within the fire service and leadership in the private sector differs (Gill, 2009).

Leadership Self-Efficacy

Leadership self-efficacy is a social and organizational construct that has garnered research interest in recent times. Leadership self-efficacy is associated with desired leadership attributes, such as leader emergence, individual performance, and group performance (Rehm & Selznick, 2019). Leadership self-efficacy not only contributes to current organizational, social, and individual operations, but it possesses significant implications for the development and practice of future initiatives, research, and the development of the future generations of leaders (Rehm & Selznick, 2019).

There are many elements that contribute to leadership self-efficacy through existential development and education. Three sources of experience are noted to contribute to the development of leaders (Day, 2012; McCauley et al., 1998; Yukl, 2010) to include formal development programs (i.e., off duty training and education for the purpose of leadership development and effectiveness), development job challenges (i.e., unique issues and responsibilities of regular job duties; McCauley et al., 1994, 2010), and developmental supervision (i.e., received coaching and role modeling from supervision during regular work; Arnold et al., 2000). Leaders who are go-getters and seek outside leadership improvement educational modalities, even if it means that they have do attend outside of work, have proven to find success in leadership (Day, 2012; McCauley et al., 1998; Yukl, 2010). Mentorship provisions for leaders to emulate, and for leaders to benefit from the existential experience of learning through the overcoming of obstacles is invaluable.

One element that is necessary to maximize the type of development that best supports fire officers is leadership self-efficacy. Many potential factors exist regarding leadership self-efficacy development. Empirical research has shown that contributing factors, such as leadership self-efficacy and managers' support network, support development and leadership outcomes (Seibert et al., 2017).

Blue Card Fire Officer Training

The specific course that encompasses fire officer school is titled Blue Card. Blue Card is a fire officer training program that is based out of Phoenix, Arizona, and is designed and delivered by a family of fire chiefs – the Brunacini family. The format is primarily online, with a summative psychomotor element that attempts to develop fire officer conditioning through repetitive incident scenario training. This is on-ground training that the candidate arranges with Blue Card at a training center local to the participants. Southeastern Michigan has many potential and convenient training centers. Blue Card is completely based on fire command, command safety, and the eight functions of command that include (a) assumption/confirmation/positioning, (b) situation evaluation which includes risk management, (c) communications, (d) deployment, (e) strategy/incident action planning, (f) organization, (g) review/revision, and (h) transfer/continuation/termination (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 2016).

Influence of Experience

The theoretical supports considered for this study are self-efficacy theory (Bandura, 1977), social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986), and adult learning theory (Knowles et al., 2015). This purposefully chosen set of theories provides a thorough theoretical background that encompasses the foundation of which this study is built. They depict how adults learn and how learning occurs, but they also examine self-efficacy and suggest the influence that self-efficacy theory (Bandura, 1977) has on leaders and leadership outcomes.

Within the study, both leadership self-efficacy scores and leadership training were considered; however, there is one element that was not measured in this study that may provide an influence. It is that of experience. Previous experience and cognitive training contribute to success and satisfaction of desired outcomes. Existential knowledge in fire service leadership is more valuable than ever before (Meyer et al., 2018). When considering traditional industry, as leadership experience increased, desirability of dominance-related traits decreased (Nichols, 2016).

Bandura (1977) stated that self-efficacy may be derived from four states that include: performance accomplishments, verbal persuasion, physiological states, and what this section will examine: experience. Experiences encompass great value, even though learning in this fashion progresses at a slower pace (Arghode & Wang, 2016); however, evidence suggests that learning through this process supports greater retention when compared to merely cognitive instruction (Arghode, 2013). Experience may benefit the individual, but it may also provide detriment (Bandura, 1997). This section will examine the idea of experience as a covariate.

There are many contributing factors that lead to the development of leadership selfefficacy. This section will concentrate on how the principle of experience contributes to leadership self-efficacy. According to Bandura et al. (1977), the first mentioned, and greatest contributing factor that leads to leadership self-efficacy is mastery experiences. This is because our mastery experiences are the greatest authentic indicators of an individual's capabilities and capacity (Pfitzner-Eden, 2016).

The second contributing factor in Bandura et al.'s (1977) theory of what leads to leadership self-efficacy are vicarious experiences. This is a concept that leaders may consider when determining if they have found success in their own experiences. When leaders determine if they are successful, they consider the task's difficulty as well as how others have fared under similar circumstances (Bandura, 1997). So, vicarious experiences are quite subjective to a person's personal experience and obtained information. Under this construct and under similar circumstances, a big fish in a small pond would have achieved a greater level of leadership selfefficacy than a comparably-sized fish in a larger pond.

One of the primary functions of a fire officer is that of an educator. Teacher self-efficacy was strongly related to educators who have experienced mastery experiences (Pfitzner-Eden, 2016). Such mastery experiences include the successful occurrences as well as the invaluable failures. Where we often learn from our failures, it is the successful experiences that really propels our self-efficacy beliefs (Pfitzner-Eden, 2016).

The quantity and quality of experience in years does not necessarily equate to a certain number of formative successful life experiences, as years of experience is an objective indicator that does not necessarily provide an evaluative, and easily measurable element (Bandura, 1997). The number of influential life experiences cannot be determined simply by a leader's experience in unit time. While experience in years is not necessary a factor that can be directly related to leadership self-efficacy, it was considered in this study, as successful leadership experiences is extremely difficult to consider and quantify.

There have been many studies from varying industries that support the positive link between experience and self-efficacy (Bandura et al., 1977; Pfitzner-Eden, 2016; Seibert et al., 2017). All provide support for the chosen theories and relate to leadership self-efficacy in fire officers. The considered occupations included in the following are teaching, nursing, and education.

The benefits of experiential learning are difficult to define (Spanjaard et al., 2018). Even though time constraints are limiting factors to learning through experiences, there is great value in learning through this route (Arghode & Wang, 2016). Some researchers believe that it is through experiential learning that provides the greatest, concrete model for knowledge retention, as opposed to simple didactive education (Arghode, 2013).

The success of teaching in a fashion that is necessary to convey information to the degree of understanding is challenging to achieve. Usually, ones that are able to design, create, and deliver education are ones that have achieved great understanding. Not only do they need to know finite material, but they also need to know volume of material (Murray & Christison, 2019). When considering teaching in relation to self-efficacy, results from empirical research suggested that there was a strong relationship between years of experience and teaching self-efficacy (Adesina et al., 2016; Bolaji et al., 2016; Pérez-Fuentes et al., 2019; Yoo, 2016).

The impact of experience has been studied in other professions. There is well-provided and good synthesis from multiple studies in regard to nursing leadership. When considering nursing, nurses' leadership self-efficacy significantly influenced motivation to lead and future career aspirations (Cziraki et al., 2018), self-efficacy may be predicted by years of leadership experience (Costanzo et al., 2019; Van Dyk et al., 2016), and nurses with greater levels of coping self-efficacy are more likely to view the challenging demands from their occupations as positive (Fallatah et al., 2017). Even though greater self-efficacy levels have shown to exist in closer proximity at the summation of nursing school, prior to the onset of the nursing school experience, experience among nursing students has greatly contributed to a markedly higher level of self-efficacy (Kimhi et al., 2016). This study shows that leaders take their experiences with us, and such experiences contribute to how well we feel we may succeed in future experiences.

In the field of education, a structural equation model discovered that college leadership experiences and high school leadership experiences result in a significant influence on college leadership self-efficacy (Pillai & Williams, 2004). It may be derived that experience in leadership positions in education and volunteer leadership experience in education results in more positively related college leadership experiences as well as further fortified future college leadership experiences (Pillai & Williams, 2004). This experiment showed that leadership experiences lead to greater leadership self-efficacy that subsequently leads to improved levels of both leadership experiences and leadership self-efficacy.

Experience with education and regular vocational education may lead to leadership selfefficacy. Experiences within educational programs provide opportunities to garner community, practical experience in leadership, and experience in persevering that leads to self-efficacy (Versland, 2016). Educational leaders have the opportunity to develop self-efficacy though creating purposeful instructional activities that place students in positions to gain mastery of leadership strategies (Versland, 2016).

Theorists who specialized in social cognitive theory focused on increasing competence and confidence through authentic mastery experiences (Bandura, 1994). Albert Bandura is one of the most commonly cited academic sources in the world (Haggbloom et al., 2002). Bandura (1994) detailed that four sources of efficacy beliefs exist that include: performance outcomes, vicarious experiences, verbal persuasion, and psychological feedback. Mastery experiences consists of mastering a task, activity, or concept (Bandura, 1994). It is the ability to manage and control themselves within the environment in which one resides. Our world is packed with numerous potential obstacles and adversities that restrict or alter our courses, and we must have a robust sense of self-efficacy in order to set forth a perseverant effort to battle, adapt, and overcome (Bandura, 1994). The mastery of such experiences is the most accurate evidence that depicts the capabilities and propensity of the individual to succeed (Bandura, 1994). It is mastery experiences that drives the potential for the development of self-efficacy (Bandura, 1994). It would be difficult to concretely build self-efficacy without history of mastering experiences.

The ideological perception of leadership drives thoughts and actions. It influences how some choose to support, hire, and who gets granted authority (Spector, 2016). Our previous

60

experience may benefit us, but it may also hurt us. Just as important to leadership self-efficacy as fortunate experiences, negative experiences are especially detrimental to development (Bandura, 1997). Learning and psychological development is an emotional endeavor. The greater the emotional support, the better chance individuals have to succeeding.

Our emotions, at the time of which we are confronted with a challenge that warrants an action, influences our potential positive thoughts and emotions that builds self-efficacy or leads to aversive thoughts that lead to fears about respective capabilities that may lower perceptions and trigger stress and agitation that produces inadequate performance (Bandura, 1994). Each positive experience (perceived success and sense of accomplishment) propels us toward a greater level of self-efficacy, whereas a negative experience (perceived failure and sense of defeat) yields a negative trajectory. Whereas mastery experiences lead to a greater sense of self-efficacy, undesirable thoughts and fears that are built through negative interactions with others provides a negative reaction and lower perceptions of their capabilities (e.g., self-efficacy; Bandura, 1994).

James (1985) detailed that what people experience is predicated upon what such people choose to attend to. If this is so true, then defining individuals' experiences and how they exercise control over their lives is influenced by the very self-beliefs that influence the choices that lead to those outcomes (Bandura, 1994). Fortunate outcomes usually lead to greater outcomes. Positive experiences lead to greater self-efficacy that leads to greater future successes (Bandura, 1994). The result of the execution of duties of government entities (successes vs failures) is directly related to leadership that influences such actions (Akib & Salam, 2016; Niswaty et al., 2019). Bandura (1994) found that positive experiences lead to a greater sense of self-efficacy. The building of self-efficacy levels subsequently leads to a greater devotion of

effort, length of devotion toward a cause, their level of perseverance toward similar causes, and personal resiliency (Bandura, 1994).

Leaders who have found success in a certain domain of challenges are more apt to tackle subsequent challenges, and if this continues on the same course trajectory, leads to mastery of experiences (Bandura, 1994). The ones who have found success and have accomplished difficult tasks possess an understanding of the degree of effort that is needed and how much endurance is needed to accomplish further tasks (Bandura, 1994). Conversely, the ones that have not had the privilege of satisfying difficult tasks or have not attempted to tackle certain tasks may feel that such task's level of difficulty is anticipated to be greater, subsequent fostering of stress and potential depression create a narrowed vision of how to approach future problem solving (Bandura, 1994).

Summary

In summation, this chapter provided resources that acted as a review of what has already been investigated. This section also served the purpose of acknowledging the immense gap in the literature regarding the appropriateness of the current standard of initial fire officer education. This chapter detailed some of the leadership structures and operations that are in place and some of the theories that were used in this study as support for the evidence found in investigations. It serves as a review of the related literature as well as providing an examination into underlying theories and research for this study. It also provides insight into previous findings regarding fire service operations, leadership, training analyses, and the theories that support such entities. From such investigation, the necessity for research emerged as a large dearth in literature was made obvious regarding the effectiveness of introductory fire officer education.

Three theories were utilized to assist in the understanding of leadership and how leadership develops in individuals. All are imperative in providing understanding of the psychology of learning and are just some tools to explain how leadership advances to develop healthy workplaces (Gulseren et al., 2019). These theories are closely related with some overlap in their philosophies, but also very different in contexts. Self-efficacy theory (Bandura, 1977) details the fundamental components of the relationship between self-efficacy and success. Social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986) explains how adults learn through the observations of others. Adult learning theory concerns the ways adults learn through traditional didactic means. Selfefficacy theory (Bandura, 1977), social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986), and adult learning theory (Knowles et al., 2015) will assist in the illustration of leadership subtopics and assist in synthesizing findings to support such topics. The aforementioned theoretical support provided insight into what is already understood to be true. What is not known, is the adequacy level of the current fire officer training and how it satisfies the needs of the fire service. This study seeks to address the gap in the literature by determining if the current standard of officer training is sufficient enough to support fire officer leadership self-efficacy.

Leadership and educational philosophies are quite complex to study, but are imperative to the success, progression, and outcome of each respective organization and institution. A greater understanding of self-efficacy is imperative for leadership development in order for leaders to empower every member of their respective organizations and for continued support of organizational advancement (Caldwell & Hayes, 2016). If it is not subjectively sufficient, or to a level leadership demands it to be, then maybe leadership should seek other means of delivering such training imperative to the safety of their crews so they can best support the citizens.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

Overview

The purpose of this quantitative, quasi-experimental research study was to determine if a statistically significant difference exists in fire officer leadership self-efficacy of officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school. In order to determine if differences exist between leadership self-efficacy in fire officers who have and have not experienced fire officer school, further investigation and data requisition was needed. This chapter presents the research methodology by providing explanations of the research design, hypothesis, participants and setting, instrumentation, procedures, and data analysis.

Design

A quasi-experimental, nonequivalent control groups design was used to determine if fire officer school influences fire officer leadership self-efficacy. This research was conducted utilizing a quasi-experimental, nonequivalent control groups design, because it allows researchers to evaluate interventions while possessing the ability to manipulate the variables without the restriction of utilizing randomized participant selection (Gall et al., 2007). A quasi-experimental, nonequivalent control groups design was utilized due to the ability to manipulate the variables, as well as the existence of the unsuitability of randomly assigning individual participants to the treatment and control groups. Quasi-experimental designs are often adopted when conducting randomized control is not achievable or ethical (Harris et al., 2006). Quasi-experimental studies are commonly used within the educational industry (Gall et al., 2007), and was deemed to be most appropriate in this research study.

The independent variable is the presence of fire officer leadership training and are titled: present and not present. The dependent variables are the leadership self-efficacy scores from the LSES (Bobbio & Manganelli, 2009) that are provided from the populations of two fire departments from the state of Michigan. Many recent empirical studies have utilized a nonexperimental, quasi-experimental research design to assess for self-efficacy (Hsiao et al., 2021; Liberatore & Wagner, 2022; Toygar et al., 2022). A non-experimental, quasi-experimental design allows the comparison of groups in terms of a cause (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). The most appropriate instrument for this study to assess for the degree of leadership self-efficacy among prospective fire officers before and after fire officer school is the Bobbio and Manganelli's (2009) Leadership Self-Efficacy Scale (LSES).

Research Question(s)

RQ1: Is there a difference in the fire officer leadership self-efficacy scores of officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school?

Hypothesis

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant difference in fire officer leadership self-efficacy scores of fire officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school.

Participants and Setting

The study examined leadership self-efficacy scores related to preparatory fire officer education. Studied participants included a wide array of fire service officers and examined if a significant difference in leadership self-efficacy of fire service leaders who attend officer school compared to those who do not attend. This section will describe the population, participants, sampling technique, and setting.

Population

The participants for the study were drawn from fire officers and future fire officers from the two Michigan fire departments. These include the Houston Fire Department (HFD) and the Sterling Heights Fire Department (SHFD). Samples were taken in 2022. HFD services the fourth most populous city of about 2,325,502 residents over an area of 665 square miles with 105 fire stations (Houston, 2022). The HFD is the third largest fire department in the United States, was established in 1838 (Houston, 2022), employs professional firefighters, all of which protect an urban community. SHFD protects the fourth most populous city (suburban) in the state of Michigan. It serves about 135,000 residents over an area of about 36 square miles with five fire stations. SHFD employs professional firefighters.

Participants

The total number of participants sampled was 100. According to Gall et al. (2007), 100 students is the required minimum for a medium effect size with statistical power of .7 at the .05 α level. B-Shifter, the creator and continuing caretaker of the Blue Card program, was contacted for their assistance in participant collection. B-Shifter is based out of Arizona, but Blue Card is a national training modality. B-Shifter provided the researcher with a contact from the HFD to procure participants. HFD, along with SHFD provided the necessary minimum of 100 participants.

Both convenience sampling and voluntary response sampling were utilized in this study. Many empirical studies have utilized convenience sampling methods (Gulmez & Negis Isik, 2020; Harper, 2016; Kim & Beehr, 2017; Tian & Taylor, 2018) to assess for leadership selfefficacy in leadership and voluntary response sampling (Cheung et al., 2017; Mellerson et al., 2018; Seither et al., 2017; Vermeir et al., 2018) to internally measure education. Convenience sampling is beneficial in that it is inexpensive, efficient, and easy to execute (Jager et al., 2017). It was chosen as the participants are chosen based on availability and convenience (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Voluntary response sampling is advantageous for its ease (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Convenience sampling procedure was utilized as the HFD is the only fire department holding Blue Card fire training of substantial numbers when this research study was designed, and participation access was attainable for the SHFD. Voluntary response sampling was utilized within each group after they are placed in treatment and control groups. Benefits to voluntary response sampling are that it took little time to perform, required no training, and it ensured there were equal numbers of representation.

Table 1

Participants

	Treatment Group	Control Group	Total	
Participants	43	57	100	

Table 2

Education Level (EL)

EL	K-12	Higher Education	Total
Total	0	100	100

Setting

The samples came from two major fire departments that comprised the area of Houston, Texas, and Sterling Heights, Michigan. Within the HFD, prospective fire officers were selected the from the professional fire department, whose firefighters work 24-hour-long shifts. Each prospective fire officer was placed into either a treatment group (Training) or a control group (No Training). Within the SHFD, prospective fire officers were selected the from the professional fire department, whose firefighters work 24-hour-long shifts. Each prospective fire officer was placed into either a treatment group (Training) or a control group (No Training).

The specific course that encompasses fire officer school is titled Blue Card. Blue Card is a fire officer training program that is based out of Phoenix, Arizona, and is designed and delivered by a family of fire chiefs – the Brunacini family. The format is primarily online, with a summative psychomotor element that attempts to develop fire officer conditioning that the candidate arranges with Blue Card at a training center local to the participants. Southeastern Michigan has many potential and convenient training centers. Blue Card is completely based on fire command, command safety, and the eight functions of command that include (a) assumption/confirmation/positioning, (b) situation evaluation which includes risk management, (c) communications, (d) deployment, (e) strategy/incident action planning, (f) organization, (g) review/revision, and (h) transfer/continuation/termination (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 2016). Blue Card training may be found at https://bshifter.com/about_01.aspx

Instrumentation

The instrument that was utilized in this study to assess for the degree of leadership selfefficacy among prospective fire officers before and after fire officer school was the Bobbio and Manganelli's (2009) Leadership Self-Efficacy Scale (LSES). Permission to use the leadership self-efficacy research instrument for research purposes was provided by Andrea Bobbio (the instrument's co-author) through email. See Appendix A for the LSES (2009). See Appendix C for a copy of the email. The LSES was derived from Bandura's General Self-Efficacy Scale (1997) and was developed in order to best measure for higher education academic self-efficacy. The LSES is an accurate representation of leaders' views of their capabilities regarding setting a direction for the group, profession clout and the potential to change goals, and overcoming obstacles that inhibit the group from satisfying the objectives (Bobbio & Manganelli, 2009). Bobbio and Manganelli's intention was for researchers to gather composite scores. This instrument has been utilized to provide greater understanding through empirical research in the enterprises of youth leadership (Rehm, 2017; Rehm & Selznick, 2019), and in general adult leadership (Dwyer, 2019). This instrument was used and made considerate contributions in the fields of youth leadership (Rehm & Selznick, 2019) and in general adult leadership (Dwyer, 2019).

One of the principal purposes of the development of the LSES was to develop a multidimensional scale to measure for leadership self-efficacy (Bobbio & Manganelli, 2009). This instrument was created in order to measure for the most vital leadership functions and most essential leadership aptitudes (Bobbio & Manganelli, 2009). Such leadership functions include leadership responsibilities such as setting direction for the group (Yukl, 2010), the ability of leaders to gain trustworthiness and approval of the majority of the group (Hollander, 1958), intrapersonal leadership skills (Bobbio & Manganelli, 2009), and the ability to progress an organization by the creation of new ideas and ability to influence others to adopt such ideas (Brown, 2000).

The procedure used was an emailed Bobbio and Manganelli's LSES (Likert-style) surveys that assessed each participant's general self-efficacy concerning their intrapersonal and interpersonal leadership abilities. In order to test the adequacy of construct validity of such instrument, Bobbio and Manganelli (2009) conducted a study, computed scores for each scale, calculated correlation coefficients, and compared the differences between males and females by utilizing an independent samples t test while utilizing the Leadership Self-Efficacy Scale. In the adult group studied, the skewness and kurtosis for most of the LSES items were found to reside in the range of -1.00 and +1.00, with no value lesser than -1.401 or greater than 1.611 (Bobbio & Manganelli, 2009).

Bobbio and Manganelli's (2009) LSES has been found to be reliable to be highly refined in the areas of reliability and validity for measuring for leadership self-efficacy. Bandura's (1997) General Self-Efficacy Scale (GSES), of which the LSES was derived, is correlated to emotion, optimism, and work satisfaction (Schwarzer & Jerusalem, 1995). Negative coefficients were found for depression, stress, health issues, burnout, and anxiety (Schwarzer & Jerusalem, 1995). There are no subscales for this measurement.

Procedures

Human participants were utilized for this study, so the Institutional Review Board (IRB) needed to provide permission for continuance. See Appendix B for the IRB application form. Mandatory IRB online training certificate needed to be secured prior to the study. The application was completed. Consent documents were provided, distributed, signed, returned, and collected. See Appendix C for the actual consent form. IRB approval was obtained before collecting data or gaining participants.

The participants for the study were drawn from a mixture of methods of sampling that included convenience sampling of fire officers and future fire officers from the Houston Fire Department and the Sterling Heights Fire Department, and voluntary response convenience sampling from within each department to disseminate and form treatment and control groups. Within each group, there was a treatment group (Training) and a control group (No Training). All potential participants who met the criteria (experienced the training versus did not experience the training), were emailed the appropriate survey. The independent variable is the presence of fire officer leadership training and are titled present and not present. So, there was a total of two groups that included Fire Officers – Training (FO-T) and Fire Officers – No Training (FO-NT). Control groups were added as this strengthens the internal validity of experiments (Gall et al., 2007).

The procedure used was an emailed Bobbio and Manganelli's LSES (Likert-style) surveys that assessed each participant's general self-efficacy concerning their intrapersonal and interpersonal leadership abilities. The expected time to complete this assessment is less than 10 minutes. The assessments are to be sent once prior to fire officer school and once afterwards. The instrument consists of 21 questions and used a seven-point Likert scale that ranged from Not At All True to Exactly True. Responses were as follows: Exactly True = 7, Mostly True = 6, Moderately True = 5, Neutral = 4, Somewhat True = 3, Hardly True = 2, and Not At All True = 1. The higher the number, the greater the admitted relatability to the question. The lower the number, the less the participants admitted that the question or scenario related to them. The combined possible score on the LSES ranged from 21 to 147 points. Scores of 21 points are the lowest possible score, meaning that the participants who entered this score could not have possessed any less self-admitting leadership self-efficacy toward potential performance. Scores of 147 points are the highest, meaning that the participant that entered this score could not have possessed any greater self-admitting sense of leadership self-efficacy. The LSES consists of six dimensions, including: starting and leading change processes in groups, choosing effective followers and delegating responsibilities, building and managing interpersonal relationships within the group, showing self-awareness and self-confidence, motivating people, and gaining

consensus of group members (Bobbio & Manganelli, 2009). Reliability of the original Leadership Self- Efficacy Scale (21 items) was α =.91 (Bobbio & Manganelli, 2009).

A pilot study was performed utilizing 26 members of the Sterling Heights (Michigan) Fire Department (SHFD). The purpose was to test research protocols, the data collection instrument, and research techniques in preparation for the actual study. No training was necessary to implement treatment. The researcher did not have to provide training to the school leadership. The researcher was the only active associate in this study that was not a participant. The instructors of the fire officer school were instructed to provide the LSES at the summation of the training. The treatment is a regionally accepted fire officer school with a set curriculum and operates under an established rigid set of state of Michigan mandates. Each instructor has attended and satisfied minimum requirements to become certified Blue Card instructors.

Study steps and protocols were finalized and accepted. The initial emails were sent per Survey Monkey to a regional training coordinator who is also employed with the Houston Fire Department to distribute to the participants. The same links were also sent to participants from the Sterling Heights Fire Department. The emails included two links. Fire officers who recently completed Blue Card training were asked to complete the survey attached to one of the links. Fire officers and prospective fire officers who have not yet taken the training were asked to complete the same survey, but from the second link. Both were used for comparative purposes. The data were collected and curated by Survey Monkey and manually entered into the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS). The data were analyzed as described in the following section (Gall et al., 2007).
Data Analysis

The following information includes all the data analysis for the hypothesis. The utilized statistic were independent samples t tests. The independent-samples t test was used to test the hypothesis. The independent-samples t test required certain assumptions be met, such as the level of measurement, outliers, assumptions of normality, and assumptions of equal variance (Green & Salkind, 2003). Data screening included visual examination of data for potential missing entries. The level of measurement was measured on an interval level data. Box and whisker plots were created for each group to inspect for extreme outliers. The dependent variable was checked for equal distribution within each group using a Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Kolmogorov-Smirnov was used because the sample size was greater than 50 (Warner, 2013). The assumption of equal variance was assessed utilizing the Levene's Test of Equality of Error Variance (Gall et al., 2007). The null hypothesis was rejected at the 95% confidence level. Once the data were collected, the substantive significance (effect size) and the statistical significance (p value) was determined. The effect size was represented by Cohen's d 0.52 is a medium effect size (Warner, 2013).

CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS

Overview

The purpose of this quasi-experimental, nonequivalent control groups study was to determine if a statistically significant difference exists in fire officer leadership self-efficacy of officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school. This chapter comprises the research question, null hypothesis, descriptive statistics, results, and data analysis. This chapter provides the research findings of such analyses.

Research Question

RQ1: Is there a difference in the fire officer leadership self-efficacy scores of officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school?

Null Hypothesis

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant difference in fire officer leadership self-efficacy scores of fire officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school.

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics are provided to detail and inform of a potential quasi-experimental effect between the independent variable [the presence of fire officer leadership training and are titled: 'training' (T) and 'no training' (NT)], and the dependent variables [(the leadership selfefficacy scores from the population of fire officers and future fire officers from the Houston Fire Department (HFD) and the Sterling Heights Fire Department (SHFD)]. Composite mean perceived leadership self-efficacy scores were calculated and tabulated. Data were collected from 100 members of the HFD and the SHFD. Included are 43 fire officers or prospective fire officers (17 fire officer participants from the HFD, and 27 fire officer participants from the SHFD) who have recently completed Blue Card fire officer incident command training, and 57 firefighters (14 firefighter participants from the HFD, and 43 firefighter participants from the SHFD) who have yet to complete the training. The numbers of the participants from each group are reflected in Table 3. The participants were comprised of a treatment group who experienced training (N = 43) and a control group who did not experience the training (N = 57).

Table 3

Treatment and Control Groups

	Treatment Group	Control Group	Total	
Participants	43	57	100	

Upon examination of the final research survey results, some survey instrument test item responses were found to be missing. Because the total number of participants (*N*) was not outside the range that it may be a concern and lesser legitimize the study [the total (at least 100)] met the minimum for a medium effect size with statistical power of .7 at the .05 α level], a participant's response to one of the test items did not relate to the other responses, and the fact that all calculations may be analyzed using the same set of participants (Warner, 2013), listwise deletion was chosen. Data screening was conducted. The data from participants that did not record an answer to any individual test item were excluded from consideration in this research study. The total number of participants assessed were 107, and the total number of entries that were omitted due to incomplete instrument test item answers was 6. One participant was considered to be an extreme outlier. Therefore, the total number of utilized participants was 100.

The self-efficacy means and standard deviations for the independent variables (Training and No Training) were as follows: Training M = 121.86, SD = 11.73. No Training M = 115.53,

SD = 12.75. The self-efficacy means and standard deviations for the independent variables are represented in Table 4.

Table 4

Descriptive Statistics – Mean Perceived Self-Efficacy Scores

Independent variable	Training		No Training	
	М	SD	М	SD
Self-efficacy scores	121.86	11.73	115.53	12.75

Results

Data Screening

Data screening was conducted on each group's dependent variables regarding data inconsistencies and outliers. The researcher sorted the data on each variable and scanned for inconsistencies. Box and whisker plots were developed to determine the existence of outliers on each dependent variable. One extreme outlier was identified and removed from the data set.

Figure 1



Box and Whisker Plot for Training

Upon examination of Figure 1, one non-extreme outlier was identified. The non-extreme outlier that is represented as a circle (Participant 36) is proximate to the starting edge of the first quartile. The proximal location of this outlier marks it as non-extreme.

Figure 2





Figure 2 details the box and whisker plot for the control group. The control group did not receive the training. Upon examination of Figure 2, no outlier was identified. Also, the box and whisker plot is almost symmetrical.

Assumptions

An independent samples t-test was utilized to test the null hypothesis that asks if a statistically significant difference exists between fire officer leadership self-efficacy of fire officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school. The t-test required that the assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variance were met (Green & Salkind, 2003). See Table 5 for the Tests of Normality.

Table 5

Tests of Normality

Group	Kolmogorov-Smirnov				
	Statistic	df	Significance		
Treatment	0.09	43	0.20*		
Control	0.06	57	0.20*		

The Levene's Test of Equality of Error Variance was conducted to evaluate the assumption of homogeneity of variance for each variable. The assumption of homogeneity was met. See Table 6 for the Levene's Test.

Table 6

Levene's Test of Equality of Error Variance

F	df	Significance
0.01	99	0.11

Results of the Null Hypothesis

A t-test was conducted to test the null hypothesis that examined potential differences between the leadership self-efficacy scores of participants who attended fire officer school and participants who did not attend fire officer school. The statistical analysis conducted using SPSS found that a significant difference does not exist between the fire officer leadership self-efficacy scores of firefighters who have attended fire officer training school and firefighters who have not attended fire officer school t(99)=0.11, p < 0.05. Data shows that participants who have received the training do not possess an overall significantly greater degree of self-efficacy than the participants who have received the training. The null hypotheses failed to be rejected at the 95% confident level. See Table 7 for the t-test results.

Table 7

t test results

Independent variable	Training No Training		aining			Cohen's d	
	М	SD	М	SD	t	р	
Self-efficacy scores	121.86	11.73	115.53	12.75	1.60	0.11	0.52

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS

Overview

The purpose of this chapter is to provide a review of the empirical findings in association to the theoretical support and the supportive literature. Included in this chapter are subsections titled: discussion, implications, limitations, and recommendations for future research. The discussion subsection includes a detailed explanation of the interdependent relationship of the findings as well as the theoretical framework and existing literature. The implications section will provide an intrapersonal view of the study and its findings. The limitations section will discuss any potential limitations with the study, and this section will conclude with recommendations for future research.

Discussion

The purpose of this research study was to determine if a statistically significant difference existed in fire officer leadership self-efficacy of officers who attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school. This subsection will compare and contrast the research findings with previously established findings; however, due to the dearth of previous research findings regarding perceived leadership self-efficacy of fire service officers and nonofficers, much comparison will be targeted toward education, learning, and the human mind.

RQ1: Is there a difference in the fire officer leadership self-efficacy scores of officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school?

An independent samples t-test was conducted to test the null hypothesis that examined if a significant difference exists among the leadership self-efficacy scores of the participants who attended fire officer school and the participants who did not attend fire officer school. Data show that participants who have received the training do possess an overall marginally greater degree of self-efficacy per the means scores; however, the research discovered that no significant difference exists between the fire officer leadership self-efficacy scores of fire officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school. This result was not expected, considering the predominant parts of Bandura's (1977, 1997) and Knowles et al.'s (2015) writings on experience contributing to increased self-efficacy. There are, however, much support from these theories listed below.

It is imperative to preface that both Bandura (1977, 1997) and Knowles et al. (2015) considered the element of experience as just a fragment of many potential contributing factors that lead to increased levels of self-efficacy. Bandura (1977) stated that self-efficacy may be derived from four states that include performance accomplishments, experience, verbal persuasion, and physiological states. Adult learning theory operates under five assumptions that support self-concept, adult learner experience, readiness to learn, orientation to learning, and the motivation to learn (Halpern & Tucker, 2015). Fire officer positions are usually held by more senior firefighters. Considering this, officers usually have more experience and have had more time to amass performance accomplishments; however, experience may also take one down a negative deflection. Firefighters do accrue psychologically stressing experiences that may negatively affect their self-efficacy. Such experiences tend to build up and cause distress or dysfunction at high levels, whereas younger firefighters have yet to build negative experiences. This may bring experienced fire officers down to a similar level as younger firefighters to reflect no significant difference in self-efficacy.

The theoretical framework surrounding leadership in emergency services involves theories which typically drive much of adult learning. Understanding the foundational significance of the following theories is paramount to the advancement of adult learning, and thus, the support and advancement of the research of this study. Theoretical exploration was performed to determine the best support for the basis of the research findings of this study and to bolster and fortify its significance and potential implications. Learning and development are the common themes involved with these theories that were utilized to assist in the understanding of leadership, and how leadership develops in individuals. These include self-efficacy theory (Bandura, 1977), social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986), and adult learning theory (Knowles et al., 2015).

An individual's perceived self-efficacy is the individual's beliefs about their own capabilities to produce effects (Bandura, 1994). It is this belief that is the basic foundation of human motivation, performance accomplishments, and emotional well-being (Bandura, 1997, 2006). Belief of oneself and abilities is important for the continuance of high levels of selfesteem. Transformational leadership is known to make efficient use of dynamics to support subordinate stimulation, progression, and change buy-in (Bennis & Nanus, 1985). This type of leadership supports self-confidence, performance, attitude, and intelligence enhancement through providing clear organizational goals (Bass, 1985). Individuals with a higher degree of selfefficacy have a greater propensity of influencing the creation of higher goals, as well as possessing a greater likelihood of possessing applied goal-achieving dedication (Bandura & Wood, 1989; Golas, 2010). Social persuasion is important in the development of leadership. Leadership may be described "to enlist others and inspire a shared vision" (Kouzes & Posner, 2017, p. 133). According to Riggio (2017), the greatest contributing factors in leadership are power and influence. The ability to persuade others to adopt a leader's vision heavily influences the ability of the leader. If a leader loses the ability to influence, they lose the ability to support

the model of a dynamic leader and follower (Riggio, 2017). A fire officer must know that they have the full support of the crew, and trust that they are willing to support the leader in dire circumstances. Fire service leadership and influence was thoroughly assessed by the instrument survey of this study.

The ability or processes utilized to motivate or influence individuals to achieve organizational goals is what defines leadership (Kesting et al., 2016). The primary focus of successful leadership includes the successful transition of visions and goals into fruition (Robbins, 2000), as well as the assurance and maintenance of continued development, successful planning and plan implementation, and structure creation (Bennis & Nanus, 1985). One of the greatest contributing factors of effective leadership is the development of clear and distinct goals (Aga, 2016). Achieving organizational goals is directly associated with employee performance (Huertas-Valdivia et al., 2019). Younger firefighters may develop goals, but fire officers are usually the ones that develop acute-level goals for the firefighters and the remainder of the crew, as well as longer-term goals. It is a surprise that there is not a significant difference in leadership self-efficacy.

Allio (2015) believed that it is the adoption and implementation of efficient strategies that best support organizational success. Strategies are one aspect that is learned from fire officer school. Some examples of strategies include (a) fire ground tactics; (b) human resources management; (c) ethical response; (d) community outreach and education; (e) communications; (f) risk management; (g) health, safety and wellbeing, personnel management; (h) disaster mitigation; (i) strategic development, practice, and actualization; (j) training; physical fitness; and (k) and protocol understanding, just to name a few. Directive provision and following is imperative to the goals of the organization, but more importantly, for the safety, livelihood, and lives of all firefighters involved. Fire officers have greater education and experience with the development and deployment of strategies. Younger firefighters do not have the privilege of attending fire officer leadership classes that focus on strategy formulation, deployment, and evaluation. From the opinion of the researcher, strategy formulation improves after education, and after experiencing both positive and negative experiences. Positive experiences in strategy development seems to increase self-efficacy. Negative experiences may improve one's abilities, but may also decrease their self-efficacy.

Good leadership may be defined as understanding and finding comfort that leadership is dynamic; leaders must lead without the necessity for titles; leaders must be able to connect with the organization's mission, be supportive of employee development, and provide opportunities to contribute to servitude (Miller, 2015). This is in contrast to inferior leadership that occurs when leaders exhibit behaviors that are associated with harmful consequences for followers and organizations (Stanley & Stanley, 2017). Bennis and Nanus (1985) detailed the core elements of leadership to include: maintaining organizational progression, translation of goals into practice, strategic planning, and ensuring supportive actions. More recently, Robbins (2000) believed leadership is defined as the ability to influence the members of an organization to achieve a vision or goal. Desired leadership dynamics transpire when leaders and subordinates collaborate to create a product that is greater than the sum of the parts (Hsieh & Tai, 2020).

Another challenge in leadership is to determine how to best support future leaders in leadership roles in industry (Roberts et al., 2016). Leaders play a vital function in the production of future leaders (Buttenschon, 2016). Good leaders cultivate good leaders (Buttenschon, 2016) through a development process based on education, and the contrary is true regarding poor leadership. Good leadership has a trickle-down effect. Future leaders learn how to lead, and how

85

not to lead, from current leaders. One of the keys to the assurance of a successful leadership pipeline is to support leadership through the development of abilities, motivation, and inspiration (Bobade & Kharghar, n.d.). It is the dispersal of information and knowledge throughout an organization that best promotes rapid and effective decision making (Allio, 2015). As adult learners advance through the adult stages in life, they tend to focus on developmental tasks that allow them to fill social roles (Knowles, 1984). In the fire industry, succession plans are imperative to the development and maintenance of fire service leadership. Younger firefighters develop their skills that benefit them more immediately, like mastering very specific firefighting tasks. They do not often engage in officer-level training. When a firefighter starts to move up in rank, they tend to learn the next position. Fire leaders are groomed from previous leaders. In the fire service, much like the military, chain of command is strictly adopted and adhered. Younger firefighters are often omitted from discussions that are held by more senior ranks. Important information will get funneled down to subordinates, but much information is withheld. These are more reasons that stirred surprise within the researcher regarding the findings.

Each firefighter has specific roles and responsibilities. Each firefighter role, and subsequent responsibilities, are determined either immediately, before the start of shift, or as one of the first objectives. Operational delegation may include resultant roles and responsibilities such as: what apparatus each firefighter occupies, their responsibilities within the apparatus team, and their precise fireground responsibilities. Top fire leaders, such as battalion chiefs, may provide an operational matrix. Fire company officers, such as captains, lieutenants, and sergeants, provide further operational leadership that are customized to accommodate daily functions. There are many potential links between adult learning theory (Knowles, 1984) and leadership development. Adults are motivated to engage in educational undertakings for three main reasons, that include: goal-achievement, socialization, and/or to seek knowledge to satisfy curiosity (Khattab & Wong, 2018). Goals are imperative in the fire service. Such goals may include educational goals, safety goals, detailed chronological goals, and operational tactics goals. Fire leaders are the ones that are tasked with finding, examining, organizing, and deploying such goals.

One would think that a fire officer with a greater pertinent array of experience should find greater success in achieving goals. This was the understanding of the researcher prior to this research study. A main contributing factor in Bandura et al.'s (1977) theory of what leads to leadership self-efficacy are vicarious experiences. This is a concept that leaders may consider when determining if they have found success in their own experiences. When leaders determine if they are successful, they consider the task's difficulty as well as how others have fared under similar circumstances (Bandura, 1997). So, vicarious experiences are quite subjective to a person's personal experience and obtained information. Under this construct and under similar circumstances, a big fish in a small pond would have achieved a greater level of leadership selfefficacy than a comparably sized fish in a larger pond. As younger firefighters gain personal and professional capital, they more resemble a larger fish in the smaller pond. According to Bandura (1997), this would increase their self-efficacy. Conversely, younger and less experienced fire officers, who may more resemble a smaller fish in a larger pond, may have their self-efficacy diminished.

It is also important to note that the quantity and quality of experience in years does not necessarily equate to a certain number of formative successful life experiences, as years of experience is an objective indicator that does not necessarily provide an evaluative, and easily measurable element (Bandura, 1997). The number of influential life experiences cannot be determined simply by a leader's experience in unit time. Experience in the fire service is random. Some firefighters will not get their first fire until they have accrued much time in experience, whereas, some get good experience from the very onset of employment. The same can be stated regarding fire officers. This cannot be anticipated. This study contrasted fire officers (Training) with a much greater number of years of experience than the non-officers (No Training). The results showed that, even though the ones who have experienced the treatment had many more years of experience than the control group, the difference in degrees of self-efficacy are not statistically significant.

Some researchers believe that it is through experiential learning that provides the greatest, concrete model for knowledge retention, as opposed to simple didactive education (Arghode, 2013). Many firefighters possess different skillsets, knowledge, wisdom, and applicational skills. Many firefighters enter the industry having already possessed an understanding of the industry, specifically the dynamics and practices. One reason for this may be the legacy element in the industry. This may be more prevalent in the firefighting industry than in any other industry. Many firefighters were inspired to enter the industry from previous family members who have paved the way. Many firefighters are second-generation firefighters. Many of those have part of a multigenerational dynamic of firefighting in the family. Due to these dynamics, firefighters who enter the industry are usually well prepared and conditioned for much of what the research instrument measured – the essential concept of self-efficacy in leadership.

There are many potential sources of attaining high levels of self-efficacy. These individual sources are minimally necessary to attain effective levels of leadership. Such potential sources of self-efficacy include the mastery of experiences, vicarious models from social models, social persuasion, and enhancing positive self-beliefs while minimizing negative ones (Bandura, 2010). Vicarious models of leadership are an important element in the birth and development of a leader. Offspring learn from parents. Parents are more apt to share topics of which they have reached a higher confidence level of understanding than of less-understood topics. If a parent is a confident firefighter, they may tend to adopt the role of a social model, providing social persuasion through sharing of their experiences.

Firefighters are involved in a very unique dynamic that may lead to their respective conditioning. In many industries, it may be satisfactory to defer to someone else or procrastinate and suspend operations to another time. In emergency industries, sound resolutions need to hastily occur in present time, since others' lives may depend upon a successfully, well thought out and executed plan and operation. Firefighters may be called crisis mitigators. From the very onset of employment, firefighters must adopt the mindset that they have to find resolutions to other people's problems. Every crisis experienced by someone in the care of the fire department must have a sound resolution. Even young firefighters must possess this capability that there is no quitting.

Individuals' self-efficacy is individuals' beliefs (e.g., how they feel, think, and where their behavior can be explained through motivation) that they are capable of achieving certain goals (Bandura, 1997). Motivated learners usually possess the ability to lessen the many potential challenges to learning (Arghode et al., 2017). Not only is self-efficacy the belief in oneself, but also the confidence that they are able to conquer presented challenges (Ghadiri et al., 2018). One of the challenges is to determine the levels of self-efficacy for each individual, identify what can promote self-efficacy of the individuals, and how the strategy may be orchestrated. Measurements of progress are some elements that may be used for improvement. The same can be said regarding self-efficacy.

Many firefighters enter the industry to be placed in a position to meet challenges directly. They want to be the ones to make the difference in individuals' lives. Even new firefighters possess this motivation. In many cases, new firefighters have a greater desire for making a difference and care of citizens than more senior firefighters. This motivation leads to improved progression of skills to ensure preparation for inevitable future emergent situations.

Fire officers should possess a greater degree of self-efficacy than younger firefighters. This is due to the fact that more senior firefighters possess greater experience and training with providing direction, personnel selection, team building, and operational oversee and management. Fire officers occupy positions that require the satisfaction of the aforementioned on a sometimes-hourly basis, and such activities should almost attain the degree of second-nature.

Any single leadership behavior or decision affects and changes the course of the entire organization (Hsieh & Tai, 2020). In order for an organization to experience opportunistic operational outcomes, effective leadership is essential (Hsieh & Tai, 2020). The transition of becoming a leader to *being* a leader generates leaders' self-actualization (Maslow & Lewis, 1987), who in part finds authority, strength, and success (Greenleaf, 1996; Russell, 2016b; Sendjaya, 2015).

Newly hired firefighters possess a comprehensive understanding of what the vocation details. This is supported by the many hours of mandatory experiential learning built into the preemployment certification requirements. New hires possess an understanding that firefighters must work in well-organized teams to mitigate confronted challenges. This element is first developed no later than in pre-employment certification classes and continues to develop throughout the respected careers till the date of retirement.

Fire officers must possess an exceptional ability to effectively evaluate crews and situations. One of the responsibilities of fire officers is to perform the evaluation of subordinates. Evaluation is essential to determine where one stands, and the projection of one's future. The purpose of fire performance evaluations is to measure the extent of the performance of employees to formulate progressive courses of action to provide essential benefits to both the individual, and subsequently to the organization (Irawati, 2020). Performance evaluations are essential to fire departments in order to determine abilities, goal acceptance, goal achievement, and to determine corrective, formative methods (Irawati, 2020).

Throughout pre-employment studies, candidates are in a constant state of evaluation. They are constantly being evaluated by educators and potential future employers in didactic and psychomotor clinical studies. They are also constantly learning to evaluate situations and how to evaluate ones who are in their temporary care – citizens and ones who enter the municipality borders.

When considering the research findings of this study, there is no significant difference in the final self-efficacy scores between ones who have experienced the training (fire officers) and ones who have not experienced the training (non-fire officers). This study examined the final self-efficacy scores of each participant's responses to the survey. If further examination of survey subcategories were examined, the researcher believes that the findings would show that fire officers possess greater self-efficacy in some subcategories, while non-officers possesses a greater degree of self-efficacy in other subcategories. It is believed by the researcher that such scores, when averaged, results in similar means. When all of the scores of the subcategories are added together, the end result showed no significant difference.

Self-efficacy Theory

Perceived self-efficacy is defined as individuals' beliefs about their own capabilities to produce their desired levels of performance that influences particular events that affects their lives (Bandura, 2010). Self-efficacy theory brings to understanding how individuals' perceived self-efficacy empowers them to employ control over the quality of their personal performance in order to control the course of their respective lives through successful management (Bandura, 2006). The belief in oneself (self-efficacy) contributes to a person's interpretation of their capabilities and leads to their eventual successes in life (Bandura, 2010).

Individuals who seek higher self-efficacy tend to pursue challenges, elevate their skills and performance to overcome their encounters, quickly recover from setbacks, attribute failure to the lack of received knowledge or skill, and are strongly committed (Bandura, 2010). Individuals with low self-efficacy tend to avoid challenging endeavors, whereas people with high selfefficacy tend to consider challenges as tasks that they have the opportunity to overcome and master (Bandura, 2010).

Individuals with low self-efficacy usually do not enter first responder industries, such as firefighting. In the fire industry, there is no quit. If firefighters originally do not possess such mindset, they need to adopt the approach of finding a solution, because dire situations are in absolute demand of the best possible solution. According to Bandura and Locke (2003), self-efficacy is rooted in the fundamental conviction that the individual has the aptitude to conquer the current presented challenges; otherwise, there would be little incentive to actually attempt to

overcome such challenges. This would explain why high-level firefighters enjoy challenges, similar to how high-level athletes enjoy high-level competition.

Self-efficacy is a trend that usually takes one of two routes. Either it continues down the road of unresolved ventures or it serves the possessor well and escorts them to new heights. Self-efficacy is this strength that does not just support the attacking of initial challenges, but the increased interest and continued and developed steadfastness to progress one's related abilities (Bandura, 2010). Individuals who do not believe in their capabilities from previous experiences affects their actions and are less apt to undertake difficult challenges and persevere when times become difficult (Bandura, 1997). Individuals who consider entering an industry that is based on quick and mistake-free decision-making usually do not have many issues with self-efficacy.

Self-efficacy theory states that individuals with higher degrees of self-efficacy have increased abilities to exert control over themselves, their circumstances, and their respective environments (Bandura, 1977). This is consistent with the findings because even less experienced firefighters need to possess these qualities. Individuals in emergent fields, such as firefighting, will not find long-standing success if they do not soon master influence over themselves, their circumstances, and their respective environments.

Social Cognitive Theory

Social cognitive theory and self-efficacy theory both share some overlap and both assist in the comprehension of learning and development. According to social cognitive theory, it is the tool of self-efficacy that best contributes to the application of learned knowledge to new situations and overcome challenges (Seibert et al., 2017). Social cognitive theory explains how firefighters learn through emulating behaviors and reactions to outside stimuli that warrants a reactive response to lead in times of emergency (Bandura, 1971). Through fire officer training, prospective fire officers are drilled in fireground tactics. This cognitive training prepares eventual fire officers to provide leadership response to fire service-related issues and provide the who, what, when, where, why, and how to mitigate such issues.

Social cognitive theory (Bandura, 1986) is the idea that humans learn through social means. It rationalizes learning through experiencing outside stimuli, evaluating such processes, collecting ideas, forming opinions, and using found perspectives to make decisions and influence the outside world (Bandura, 1971). This is consistent with the findings when the multi-generational legacy element is considered. The Sterling Heights Fire Department (one of two considered fire departments in this study) currently employs many children of former firefighters. Children learn from their parents or caregivers. If a parent finds success in a certain area, then the children may acquire such skills through social interaction and learning.

Adult Learning Theory

Malcolm Knowles, the father of adult learning (Celli & Young, 2017), popularized the study of andragogy, or the facilitated and developmental processes that assist adult learning (Knowles, 1978). Adult learning theory details how adults learn (andragogy), and how it is different from how children learn (pedagogy). Knowles detailed four principles of andragogy, that includes: the need for adults to be involved in the planning and evaluation of their instruction, experience (whether perceived successes or perceived failures) provides the basis for learning activities, adults are more concerned with learning material that is of immediate relevance that they may be able to utilize to support their needs and their wants in the proximate future, and adults advance learning from content-centered to problem-centered philosophies (Knowles, 1984). One of the responsibilities of fire officers and upcoming fire officers is to determine, design, and deliver fire-related trainings. They are responsible for their own training,

as well as the training of their crews. Adult learners who are responsible for what and when they learn are able to progress their personal learning greater than when someone else chooses the material or topic (Arghode et al., 2017).

Adult learning theory states that adults who have control over their education tend to have improved results (Knowles, 1984). This is consistent with the findings because firefighting and EMS education is adult education, and education in support of these industries is derived from vocational-type schooling. Almost all material from this education is pertinent to success in the field and is of immediate relevance, unlike a liberal arts education that is focused on a more balanced education. When new firefighters enter the industry, they are tasked with being their own advocate for accomplishments and must develop personal and academic agency to ensure and maximize their success.

Implications

As previously detailed, there is a dearth of information and research findings regarding fire officer training. There is no research that examined and studied this specific training modality. So, much of the implications section is grounded in theoretical support with the inclusion of practicality. The hope of this researcher is that this study added to the existing body of knowledge and theory, advanced fire service education understanding, and that it made this world a better place by providing further understanding of self-efficacy related to fire service leadership education.

The first implication of this study relates to self-efficacy and the contributing factors, attributes, and characteristics that lead to increased self-efficacy. This study further instills and progresses the theoretical concept of self-efficacy. Self-efficacy contributes to a person's interpretation of their capabilities and leads to their eventual successes in life (Bandura, 2010).

This study satisfies this through examination of perceived self-efficacy empowerment related to the ability of individuals to employ control over the quality of their personal performance in order to control the course of their respective lives through successful management (Bandura & Bandura, 2006). Formal development programs have shown to contribute to leadership self-efficacy (McCauley et al., 1994, 2010), but according to these findings, there is no significant difference between the two groups of participants' perceived confidence in their management that directly leads to improved personal and group performance.

The second implication examines the complex subject of experience. There have been many studies from varying industries that support the positive link between experience and selfefficacy (Bandura et al., 1977; Pfitzner-Eden, 2016; Seibert et al., 2017). According to Bandura et al. (1977), the greatest contributing factor that leads to leadership self-efficacy is mastery experiences. According to the findings of this study, there was no obvious link between experience and self-efficacy. The following will provide further illustration to the potential reasoning.

Our previous experience may benefit us, but it may also hurt us. Just as important to leadership self-efficacy as fortunate experiences, negative experiences are especially detrimental to development (Bandura, 1997). Each positive experience (perceived success and sense of accomplishment) propels us toward a greater level of self-efficacy, whereas a negative experience (perceived failure and sense of defeat) yields a negative trajectory. One reason why this study has shown that less experienced firefighters' self-efficacy is similar to that of much more experience fire officers, is that the experiences may cancel each other out. A positive vector of a magnitude added to an opposite vector of the same magnitude equals zero. Firefighters are exposed to many extremely negative and unfortunate events. It is probable that negative experiences have a negative effect on self-efficacy. Fire officers, who are usually more experienced firefighters, have experienced many more negative events than less senior firefighters. A greater number of negative experiences usually includes more considerably destructive psychologically traumatic events. This effects a person in a negative fashion, that may include areas such as learning, retention, computing, rest, sleep, rejuvenation, and mood. Further psychological support modalities need to be established to best protect firefighters and maximize their positive potential.

Experiences encompass great value, even though learning in this fashion progresses at a slower pace (Arghode & Wang, 2016); however, evidence suggests that learning through this process supports greater retention when compared to merely cognitive instruction (Arghode, 2013). According to Bandura et al. (1977), the first mentioned, and greatest contributing factor that leads to leadership self-efficacy is mastery experiences. This is because our mastery experiences are the greatest authentic indicators of an individual's capabilities and capacity (Pfitzner-Eden, 2016). Blue Card training (i.e., the chosen fire officer training modality in this study) has been deployed starting with higher-ranking fire officers to the lower ones. The higherranking firefighters are usually in such positions for reasons. A department that bases their promotions by seniority have more senior individuals in place of leadership. In this dynamic, all firefighters of higher rank have greater seniority. Odds are that the ones with greater seniority possess a greater number of experiences and a greater chance of mastering such experiences. In a system that bases their promotions on testing (having prospective fire officers undergo a multifaceted testing process), the ones who test better are in positions of leadership. Because new fire officers do not have experience in fire leadership, leadership self-efficacy may not have a chance

to develop. With this said, fire officer education plays an immense role in the development of leadership self-efficacy, thus early success of fire officers.

The third implication regards the management of fire service employees. In the fire service, higher rank and higher seniority traditionally warrants greater reverence. In the paramilitaristic industry of firefighting, new firefighters are not normally considered reputable until they accrue a few years of experience.

There are many ranks in the fire service. At the SHFD, one begins their firefighting journey as a tailboard firefighter. This is someone who is usually the 'worker bee' in the crew. After some years of experience, a fire engine operator (FEO, fire engineer, or apparatus driver) promotion may become available. The next step in the natural progression is to the rank of fire service officer. Once firefighters are promoted to a new position, it may take time to become accustomed to the rigors, nuances, and requirements of such position.

Successful managers support leadership by utilizing a developmental process of abilities, motivation, and inspiration (Bobade & Kharghar, n.d.). Being that new non-fire officers do not have much experience in fire leadership, one would think that leadership self-efficacy may not have a chance to develop. With this said, it seems that this particular fire officer education modality may not play a significant role in the development of leadership self-efficacy in firefighters.

Even young and inexperienced firefighters possess a certain set of skills. Performing the necessary actions of a successful fire service officer requires a significant skillset. While it takes an extraordinary individual to enter the industry of firefighting, much less become a successful fire service officer. It takes a special person to have the desire, complete the necessary training, be offered employment, and succeed in the fire service. Also, experience may benefit the

individual, but it may also be detrimental (Bandura, 1997). Being that becoming and maintaining success in the fire service requires such an individual who possesses the aforementioned characteristics and are dedicated individuals who have shown to have a high degree of self-efficacy, there is no surprise that even less experienced non-officers exhibit such a high degree of self-efficacy to where there is no significant difference between the self-efficacy scores of fire officers and non-fire officers.

Considering the aforementioned implications and research findings, maybe new hires and less senior firefighters should be more valued and be given more of a voice when it comes to operations and daily processes, as results from this study shows that confidence levels between fire officers and non-fire officers are quite similar. Such responsibilities could include daily tasks and schedules, training modalities, and other elements of leadership. Contrarily, this study does not seek to determine if firefighters' self-efficacy is warranted. There are many confident people in this world. Not every individual's self-efficacy matches their personal capabilities.

A fourth implication involves the progression/promotional dynamic within the fire service. Institutional progression is one of the core elemental functions of leadership (Bennis & Nanus, 1985). Fire officers have progressed through ranks to achieve their respective statuses. Even though ranks and positions in the fire service have different responsibilities, they all work toward a common goal. In a structure fire, the goal is the extinguish the fire. Each member has different responsibilities, but the end goal is similar in nature. Being that leadership tactics are understood by all may assist in the development of self-efficacy. This explains that the fire service progression dynamic supports firefighter self-efficacy. So, fire service leaders have found a successful model for cultivating firefighter self-efficacy, but should build upon such model, and keep an open mind for other potential training modalities to maximize results. The fifth implication of this study focuses on the training modality (independent variable) considered in this study and the future of fire officer training modalities. Leadership self-efficacy contributes to improved organizational operations with significant implications for current and future leadership development (Rehm & Selznick, 2019). Regarding fire officer leadership development training, it is a considerable financial commitment. Such commitment includes program costs, time off-duty, overtime to replenish vacated positions due to firefighters engaged in the modality, as well as other financial commitments. Empirical research of other fire officer training modalities should be considered to determine their effectiveness to best equip firefighters by cultivating their self-efficacy. If the findings from this study detail that no significant difference exists between participants who have taken the training and participants who have not taken the training, maybe other fire officer training modalities need to be considered to best support the people who support us.

While it is important to note that results from a single study should not be used to prove or disprove sound findings from established theories and previously conducted empirical studies (Gall et al., 2007), findings from this study should not be diminished or discounted. This study added to the existing body of knowledge of fire officer education and will contribute to improvement of conditions in all capacities within the fire service, as well as contribute to the end goal - provide improved care to the citizens in which firefighters vow to serve and protect.

Limitations

Some of the limitations of this study include: a limited participation pool, utilization of only two fire departments, limited statistical methods utilized in the testing of the hypothesis for comparison of means between groups, and the unique dynamic in the firefighting industry. The total number of participants sampled was 100. According to Gall et al. (2007), 100 students is the required minimum for a medium effect size with statistical power of .7 at the .05 α level. While the minimum number of participants was satisfied, a greater number of representation usually results in a stronger study.

The participants of this study were exclusively derived from two single fire departments. Certain fire departments across the world are comprised of different cultures. Some fire departments may hold a certain attribute at a higher regard than other fire departments. The inclusion of other diverse participants in departments from across the country, and even throughout the world, would strengthen this study.

Due to the need of possessing a minimum number of participants for testing of the hypothesis for comparison of means between groups and the researcher struggling in the SARS-CoV-2 (COVID) pandemic to procure participants, this study was limited to a *t* test. It would behoove the fire leadership industry to conduct similar research utilizing ANCOVA and multiple regression tests. ANCOVA would provide additional information regarding one independent variable in time while minimizing for initial group differences. Multiple regression would have the potential to more accurately understand association of each individual influence to the result.

Recommendations for Future Research

As previously stated, the participants of this study were exclusively derived from two fire departments from two specific regions of the United States. To best determine if this certain fire officer training modality increases perceived self-efficacy levels in fire officers, then a nationwide, and potentially a worldwide, study should be performed. It is important to note that this was just one type of fire officer training in a world of many potential trainings that fire officers undertake. In order to determine the best possible fire officer training modality relating to what provides the greatest increase in perceived self-efficacy in fire officers, a study should be

performed of many more participants, of many more fire departments, across a vast area, including a more diverse set of participants.

The training modality should also be further examined. An empirical research study should be performed to further assess the training modality's effectiveness. ANCOVA and multiple regression should be considered as the analyses of choice. ANCOVA would support analysis of many elements while considering the potential covariate of experience. Multiple regression would allow the analysis of multiple dependent variables. Performance of such analysis would maximize the effectiveness of knowledge obtainment to best support fire service officer education.

Fire department employees are the greatest resources of the department. Self-efficacy is such an important characteristic of fire service leaders. Fire department leadership needs to examine and deploy the most effective training modalities to maximize the progression of their respective employees. Empirical research of other fire officer training modalities should also be considered to determine their effectiveness to best equip fire service leaders in deciding which fire officer education modality would best suit their municipality.

Upon completion and considering an assessment of the study's research methods, findings, and implications, it was found that there are a few recommendations for future research that include conducting similar studies. Researchers could conduct a similar quasi-experimental study with interval-level assessments that examines perceived self-efficacy scores at the onset of the training modality compared to the perceived self-efficacy scores at the conclusion of the training utilizing an ANCOVA. Another quasi-experimental study could be conducted which includes distinctive and diverse demographics, such as different participant pools, larger pools, and separated into gender, experience, previous trainings, departmental emergency call volumes, and attained formal education. Researchers could also conduct a very similar study to this study, but one that provides further examination into the subcategory scores to determine if fire officers possess greater self-efficacy than non-officers in certain categories, and vice versa. Conduct a qualitative study that focuses on the motivations of fire service officers, the needs of fire service officers concerning education, experiences of each fire officer participant, and the attitudes of each fire officer. This study would provide considerably more flexibility and would not be bound by potential limitations of quantitative research methods. Conduct any of the aforementioned studies to examine other training modalities.

REFERENCES

- Adesina, O. J., Raimi, S. O., Bolaji, O. A., & Adesina, A. E. (2016). Teachers' attitude, years of teaching experience and self-efficacy as determinants of teachers' productivity in teachers' professional development programme in Ibadan Metropolis, Oyo State, Nigeria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies*, 7(3), 204–211. https://doi.org/10520/ejc196815
- Aga, D. A. (2016). Transactional leadership and project success: The moderating role of goal clarity. *Procedia Computer Science*, 100(1), 517–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2016.09.190
- Akib, H., & Salam, R. (2016). Analisis kualitas pelayanan publik berbasis importance performance analysis (IPA) pada kecamatan kota makassar. *Jurnal Ilmiah Scientific Pinisi*, 2, 16–20. http://ojs.unm.ac.id/index.php/pinisi/article/view/2127
- Alkadi, A. K. S. (2020). Emotional intelligence of Saudi school leaders (Order No. 27998720) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Pennsylvania]. https://search.proquest.com/openview/21ba5fd352bbd07781f616f26fccaeda/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y
- Allio, R. J. (2015). Good strategy makes good leaders. *Strategy & Leadership*, 43(5), 3–9. https://doi.org/10.1108/SL-07-2015-0059
- Anderson, D. W., Krajewski, H. T., Goffin, R. D., & Jackson, D. N. (2008). A leadership selfefficacy taxonomy and its relation to effective leadership. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 19(5), 595–608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2008.07.003

- Andrews, R., & Brewer, G. (2010). Social capital and fire service performance: Evidence from the U.S. States. *Social Science Quarterly*, 91(2), 576–591. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.15406237.2010.00708.x
- Angle, J. S., Gala, M. F., Jr., Lombardo, W. B., & Harlow, D. (2019). *Firefighting strategies and tactics*. Jones & Bartlett Publishers.

Arghode, V. (2013). Emotional and social intelligence competence: Implications for instruction. International Journal of Pedagogies and Learning, 8(2), 66–77. https://doi.org/10.5172/ijpl.2013.8.2.66

- Arghode, V., Brieger, E. W., & McLean, G. N. (2017). Adult learning theories: Implications for online instruction. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 41(7), 593–609. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-02-2017-0014
- Arghode, V., & Wang, J. (2016). Exploring trainers' engaging instructional practices: A collective case study. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 40(2), 111–127. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-04-2015-0033
- Arnold, J. A., Arad, S., Rhoades, J. A., & Drasgow, F. (2000). The empowering leadership questionnaire: The construction and validation of a new scale for measuring leader behaviors. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *21*, 249–269. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)10991379(200005)21:3<249::aid- job10>3.0.co;2-#
- Ash, R. C., & Hodge, P. H. (2016). *Five critical leadership practices: The secret to high performing schools*. Routledge.
- Astin, A. W., & Astin, H. S. (2000). *Leadership reconsidered: Engaging higher education in social change*. ERIC. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED444437.pdf

- Atkinson, P. (2019). It's getting better all the time. *An International Journal for All Aspects of Design*, 22(5), 557–560. https://doi.org/10.1080/14606925.2019.1634448
- Aubry, J. P., & Wandrei, K. (2020). An introduction to police and fire pensions. *Center for Retirement Research*, 69, 1–7. https://crr.bc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/SLP69.pdf
- Ballaro, J. M., & Blanchard, C. (2018). Women making it to the top: From firefighter to fire chief. *International Leadership Journal*, *10*(2), 39–61.
 http://internationalleadershipjournal.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Summer-2018-Vol.-10-No.-2.pdf#page=40
- Bandura, A. (1971). Social learning theory. General Learning Press.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191–215. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Bandura, A. (1986). *Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory.* Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1994). Self-efficacy. In V.S. Ramachaudran (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of human behavior*, 71–81. Academic Press.
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. Macmillan.
- Bandura, A. (2006). Guide for constructing self-efficacy scales. Self-Efficacy Beliefs of Adolescents, 5(1), 307–337. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Timo-Lorenz-3/post/Can-we-use-general-self-efficacy-scale-GSE-10-for-measuring-the-self-efficacyin-everycase/attachment/59d62592c49f478072e9a60c/AS%3A272165419585544%40144190070

0706/download/BanduraGuide2006.pdf

Bandura, A. (2010). Self-efficacy. *The Corsini Encyclopedia of Psychology*, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470479216.corpsy0836

- Bandura, A., Adams, N. E., & Beyer, J. (1977). Cognitive processes mediating behavioral change. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 35(3), 125–139. https://doi.org/10.1037/00223514.35.3.125
- Bandura, A., & Bandura, A. (2006). Autobiography. M.G. Lindzey & W.M. Runyan (Eds.), A history of psychology in autobiography (Vol. IX). American Psychological Association.
- Bandura, A., & Locke, E. A. (2003). Negative self-efficacy and goal effects revisited. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(1), 87–99. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.1.87
- Bandura, A., & Wood, R. (1989). Effect of perceived controllability and performance standards on self-regulation of complex decision making. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 56(5), 805–814. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.56.5.805
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectations. Collier Macmillan.
- Beach, D. S. (1985). Personnel: The management of people at work. Macmillan College.
- Beder, H. (1989). *Purposes and philosophies of adult education. Handbook of Adult and Continuing Education.* Jossey-Bass.
- Bennis, W., & Nanus, B. (1985). Leaders: The strategies for taking charge. Harper & Row.
- Bentley, M. A., Shoben, A., & Levine, R. (2016). The demographics and education of emergency medical services (EMS) professionals: A national longitudinal investigation. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, *31*(1), 18–29.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049023X16001060

- Bergman, D., Sendén, M. G., & Berntson, E. (2019). Preparing to lead in combat: Development of leadership self-efficacy by static-line parachuting. *Military Psychology*, *31*(6), 481–489. https://doi.org/10.1080/08995605.2019.1670583
- Bloom, B. S. (1956). Taxonomy of educational objectives: The classification of educational goals. Longmans, Green.

Blue Card. (2018). https://www.bshifter.com/about_01.aspx

Bobade, D., & Kharghar, Y. (n.d.). Studying recent trends in leadership development programme in one of the largest Indian conglomerate – A case study. *International Journal of Renewable Energy Exchange*, 4(1), 9–20.

https://www.academia.edu/download/55003467/10101.pdf

- Bobbio, A., & Manganelli, A. M. (2009). Leadership self-efficacy scale: A new multidimensional instrument. *TPM Testing, Psychometrics, Methodology in Applied Psychology*, 16(1), 3–24. https://www.tpmap.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/16.1.1.pdf
- Bolaji, O. A., Adesina, O. J., Adesina, A. E., & Raimi, S. O. (2016). Teachers' attitude, years of teaching experience and self-efficacy as determinants of teachers' productivity in teachers' professional development programme in Ibadan Metropolis, Oyo State, Nigeria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies*, 7(3), 204–211. https://hdl.handle.net/10520/EJC196815
- Brown, C. H. (2018). The role of leadership in surviving a school shooting. *Journal of Cases in Educational Leadership*, 21(2), 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555458917735357

Brown, R. (2000). *Group processes: Dynamics within and between groups* (2nd ed.). Blackwell. Brunacini, A. (2002). *Fire command* (2nd ed.). Heritage.
- Bulgahov, V. V., Lazarev, A. A., Konovalenko, E. P., & Mochalova, T. A. (2019). Practical training of officers of the state fire service through game-based learning. *The Education* and Science Journal, 21(4), 183–207. https://doi.org/10.17853/19945639-2019-4193207
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. Harper & Row.
- Butler, B. W., Brown, S., Wright, V., & Black, A. (2017). Bridging the divide between fire safety research and fighting fire safely: How do we convey research innovation to contribute more effectively to wildland firefighter safety?. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 26(2), 107–112. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF16147
- Buttenschon, M. (2016). *Reflective insights from today's fire service leaders: A narrative inquiry to inform the next generation's leadership development*. (Order No. 10141498) [Doctoral dissertation, Northeastern University].

https://www.proquest.com/openview/997ff4c930432b1b7afc991ea768b49a/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=18750

- Caldwell, C., & Hayes, L. A. (2016). Self-efficacy and self-awareness: Moral insights to increased leader effectiveness. *Journal of Management Development*, 35(9), 1163–1173. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-01-2016-0011
- Carter, H. (2007). Approaches to leadership: The application of theory to the development of a fire service-specific leadership style. *International Fire Service Journal of Leadership and Management*, *1*(1), 28–37.

https://www.academia.edu/download/30885521/IFSJLM_Vol1_Num1.pdf#page=30

Castellnou, M., Prat-Guitart, N., Arilla, E., Larrañaga, A., Nebot, E., Castellarnau, X., Vendrell,J., Pallas, J., Herrera, J., Monturiol, M., Cespedes, J., Pages, J., Gallardo, C., & Cespedes,J. (2019). Empowering strategic decision-making for wildfire management: Avoiding the

fear trap and creating a resilient landscape. *Fire Ecology*, *15*(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42408-019-0048-6

- Celli, L. M., & Young, N. D. (2017). Contemporary pedagogy for the adult learning. *PUPIL: International Journal of Teaching, Education and Learning*, 1(1), 86–96. https://doi.org/10.20319/pijtel.2017.11.8696
- Chemers, M. M., Watson, C. B., & May, S. T. (2000). Dispositional affect and leadership effectiveness: A comparison of self-esteem, optimism, and efficacy. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 26(3), 267–277. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167200265001
- Cheung, K. L., Peter, M., Smit, C., de Vries, H., & Pieterse, M. E. (2017). The impact of nonresponse bias due to sampling in public health studies: a comparison of voluntary versus mandatory recruitment in a Dutch national survey on adolescent health. *BMC Public Health*, 17(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4189-8
- Chu, D. C., & Abdulla, M. M. (2014). Self-efficacy beliefs and preferred gender role in policing:
 An examination of police-women's perceptions in Dubai, the United Arab Emirates.
 British Journal of Criminology, 54(3), 449–468. https://doi.org/10.1093/bjc/azu010
- Chu, D. C., Cretacci, M. A., & Jin, C. (2020). Comparison of Chinese male and female police cadets' perceived occupational self-efficacy. *Policing and Society*, 30(9), 1013–1026. https://doi.org/10.1080/10439463.2019.1632845
- Cialdini, R., Yexin, J. L., Samper, A., & Wellman, N. (2019). How bad apples promote bad barrels: Unethical leader behavior and the selective attrition effect. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-01904252-2
- Compton, D., & Granito, J. A. (2002). *Managing fire and rescue services*. International City County Management Association.

- Cooper, D. (2015). Effective safety leadership: Understanding types & styles that improve safety performance. *Professional Safety*, 60(2), 49–53. https://www.behavioral-safety.com/articles/effective_leadership_cooper_0215.pdf
- Córdova, F. M., Durán, C. A., Pincheira, M., Palominos, F., & Galindo, R. (2019). Knowledge management of intangible actives in service companies. *Procedia Computer Science*, 162, 596–603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2019.12.028
- Costanzo, A. J., Gormley, D. K., Hill-Clark, J., Israel, J., Goetz, J., Staubach, K., & Little, M. (2019). Leadership development and interprofessional nurse-led bedside rounding improves nurse leadership self-efficacy. *Nurse Leader*, *17*(3), 257–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2018.10.004
- Cote, A. (2003). Fire protection handbook (19th ed.). National Fire Protection Association.
- Cress, C. M., Astin, H. S., Zimmerman-Oster, K., & Burkhardt, J. C. (2001). Developmental outcomes of college students' involvement in leadership activities. *Journal of College Student Development*, 42(1), 15–27. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ624495.pdf
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th ed.). Sage.
- Cui, Y., Zhang, Y., Guo, J., Hu, H., & Meng, H. (2019). Top management team knowledge heterogeneity, ownership structure and financial performance: Evidence from Chinese IT listed companies. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 140, 14–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.12.008
- Cziraki, K., Read, E., Laschinger, H. K. S., & Wong, C. (2018). Nurses' leadership self-efficacy, motivation, and career aspirations. *Leadership in Health Services*, 31(1), 47–61. https://doi.org/10.1108/LHS-02-2017-0003

- Day, D. V. (2012). The nature of leadership development. In D. V. Day, J Antonakis (Eds.), *The nature of leadership* (2nd ed.). Sage.
- Decremer, J. (2018). *Improving recruitment and retention of volunteer firefighters* (Unpublished Master's thesis, Walden University). https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=6455&context=dissertation s
- Dixon, D. P., Weeks, M., Boland, R., Jr., & Gaskin, J. (2019). In extremis leadership: A study of the effects in different contexts. *American Journal of Management*, 19(3), 35–63. https://doi.org/10.33423/ajm.v19i3.2188
- Duckworth, A. (2016). Grit: The power of passion and perseverance. Scribner.
- Duckworth, A. L., & Quinn, P. D. (2009). Development and validation of the Short Grit Scale (GRIT–S). Journal of Personality Assessment, 91(2), 166–174. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223890802634290
- Dwyer, L. P. (2019). Leadership self-efficacy: Review and leader development implications. Journal of Management Development, 38(8), 637–650. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD03-2019-0073
- Eriksen, C., Waitt, G., & Wilkinson, C. (2016). Gendered dynamics of wildland firefighting in Australia. Society & Natural Resources, 29(11), 1296–1310. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920.2016.1171938
- Erlich, R. J., & Russ-Eft, D. (2011). Applying social cognitive theory to academic advising to assess student learning outcomes. *Nacada Journal*, 31(2), 5–15. https://doi.org/10.12930/0271-9517-31.2.5

- Fallatah, F., Laschinger, H. K., & Read, E. A. (2017). The effects of authentic leadership, organizational identification, and occupational coping self-efficacy on new graduate nurses' job turnover intentions in Canada. *Nursing Outlook*, 65(2), 172–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2016.11.020
- Fiaz, M., Su, Q., & Saqib, A. (2017). Leadership styles and employees' motivation: Perspective from an emerging economy. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, 51(4), 143–156. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2017.0093

Fitzgerald, S., & Schutte, N. S. (2010). Increasing transformational leadership through enhancing self-efficacy. *Journal of Management Development*, 29(5), 495–505. https://doi.org/10.1108/02621711011039240

- Gall, M. D., Gall, J. P., & Borg, W. R. (2007). *Educational research: An introduction* (8th ed.). Pearson, Inc.
- Ghadiri, R., Masoumeh, A., & Majdabadi, H. A. (2018). Determination of the psychometric properties of the patients' self-efficacy scale in blood pressure patients. *Interventional Medicine and Applied Science*, 10(2), 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1556/1646.10.2018.05
- Gill, R. (2009). Leadership in public services and the private sector: A comparison and the implications for handling crises and emergencies. *The International Journal of Leadership in Public Services*, 5(4), 20–26. https://doi.org/10.5042/ijlps.2010.0108
- Golas, J. (2010). Effective teacher preparation programs: Bridging the gap between educational technology availability and its utilization. *International Forum of Teaching & Studies*, 6(1), 16–18.

https://www.proquest.com/openview/d8c56dbe27b545a8a564f4ce6c634f07/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=38579 Green, S. B., & Salkind, N. J. (2003). Using SPSS for Windows and Macintosh: Analyzing and understanding data (3rd ed.). Prentice Hall.

Greenleaf, R. K. (1970). *The servant as a leader*. Center for Applied Studies.

- Greenleaf, R. K. (1996). Seeker and servant: Reflections on religious leadership. Jossey-Bass.
- Griffith, J. C., & Roberts, D. L. (2020). How we roll: A fire engine to every call? Fire department resource allocation and firefighter support in the United States. *International Journal of Emergency Services*, 9(3), 409–419. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJES-12-2019-0066
- Grusec, J. E. (2020). Social learning theory and developmental psychology: The legacies of Robert Sears and Albert Bandura. *International Journal of Developmental Sciences*, 14(5), 67–88. https://doi.org/10.1037/10155-016
- Gulmez, D., & Negis Isik, A. (2020). The correlation between school principals' self-efficacy beliefs and leadership styles. *International Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, *12*(1), 326–337. https://doi.org/10.15345/iojes.2020.01.020
- Gulseren, D. B., Thibault, T., & Kelloway, E. K. (2019). *The role and importance of leadership in creating psychologically healthy workplaces. Creating Psychologically Healthy Workplaces.* Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781788113427.00018
- Haggbloom, S. J., Warnick, R., Warnick, J. E., Jones, V. K., Yarbrough, G. L., Russell, T. M., & Monte, E. (2002). The 100 most eminent psychologists of the 20th century. *Review of General Psychology*, 6(2), 139–152. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.6.2.139
- Halpern, R., & Tucker, C. (2015). Leveraging adult learning theory with online tutorials. *Emerald Insight*, 43(1), 112–124. https://doi.org/10.1108/RSR-10-2014-0042

- Hannah, S. T., Avolio, B. J., Luthans, F., & Harms, P. D. (2008). Leadership efficacy: Review and future directions. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 19(6), 669–692. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2008.09.007
- Harper, D. S. (2016). Correctional executives' leadership self-efficacy and their perceptions of emotional intelligence. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 41, 765–779. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-015-9319-1
- Harris, A. D., McGregor, J. C., Perencevich, E. N., Furuno, J. P., & Zhu, J. (2006). The use and interpretation of quasi-experimental studies in medical informatics. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 13(1), 16-23.

https://doi.org/10.1197/jamia.M1749

- Herrington, V. (2017). Assessing the impact of public safety leader development in Australasia. *Policing and Society*, *27*(8), 817–831. https://doi.org/10.1080/10439463.2015.1108314
- Hollander, E. P. (1958). Conformity, status, and idiosyncrasy credit. *Psychological Review*, 65(2), 117–127. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0042501
- House, R. J., & Shamir, B. (1993). Toward the integration of transformational, charismatic, and visionary theories. In M. M. Chemers & R. Ayman (Eds.), *Leadership theory and research: Perspectives and directions* (pp. 81–107). Academic Press.
- Houston. (2022). *About Houston*. Houston, Texas. https://www.houstontx.gov/abouthouston/houstonfacts.html
- Hsiao, I. C. V., Hung, S. T. A., & Huang, H. T. D. (2021). The flipped classroom approach in an English for specific purposes (ESP) course: A quasi-experimental study on learners' selfefficacy, study process, and learning performances. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2021.1976329

- Hsieh, C. C., & Tai, S. E. (2020). Systematic review of research on leadership and management in the fire service. *International Journal of Intelligent Technologies and Applied Statistics*, 13(1), 77–100. https://doi:10.6148/IJITAS.202003_13(1).0005
- Huddlestone, J., & Pike, J. (2017). Team and collective training needs analysis: Defining requirements and specifying training systems. CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781315
- Hudson, K. A. (2016). Emotional intelligence and self-efficacy in military leaders (Doctoral dissertation, Brandman University).
 https://digitalcommons.brandman.edu/edd_dissertations/35/
- Huertas-Valdivia, I., Gallego-Burín, A. R., & Lloréns-Montes, F. J. (2019). Effects of different leadership styles on hospitality workers. *Tourism Management*, 71, 402–420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2018.10.027
- Irawati, L. (2020). The influence of leadership and motivation on employee performance at the South Tangerang Fire and Rescue Service. *Jurnal Ad'ministrare*, 7(1), 119–128. https://doi.org/10.26858/ja.v7i1.14470
- Iso-Ahola, S. E., & Dotson, C. O. (2016). Psychological momentum-A key to continued success. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 1328. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01328
- Jager, J., Putnick, D. L., & Bornstein, M. H. (2017). II. More than just convenient: The scientific merits of homogeneous convenience samples. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development*, 82(2), 13–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/mono.12296
- James, W. (1985). Psychology: The briefer course. University of Notre Dame Press.

Jannetta, J. (2019). Responding to homicide and shooting scenes. Urban Institute.

Johannessen, S. (2017). *Strategies, leadership and complexity in crisis and emergency operations*. Routledge.

Kellerman, B. (2012). The end of leadership. Harper Collins.

Kelliher, C., & Richardson, J. (Eds.). (2018). Work, working and work relationships in a *changing world*. Routledge.

Kesting, P., Ulhøi, J. P., Song, L. J., & Niu, H. (2016). The impact of leadership styles on innovations-a review. *Journal of Innovation Management*, 3(4), 22–41. https://doi.org/10.24840/2183-0606_003.004_0004

- Khattab, A., & Wong, D. (2018). Integrating western and Arab leadership development practices: An example of the challenge bridging global and local adult learning perspectives. *Andragoške Studije*, 2018(2), 65–85. https://doi.org/10.5937/ANDSTUD180265K
- Kim, M., & Beehr, T. A. (2017). Self-efficacy and psychological ownership mediate the effects of empowering leadership on both good and bad employee behaviors. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 24(4), 466–478. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051817702078
- Kimhi, E., Reishtein, J., Cohen, M., Friger, M., Hurvitz, N., & Avraham, R. (2016). Impact of simulation and clinical experience on self-efficacy in nursing students. *Nurse Educator*, 41(1), E1–E4. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNE.00000000000194
- Knowles, M. S. (1978). Andragogy: Adult learning theory in perspective. *Community College Review*, 5(3), 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1177/009155217800500302

Knowles, M. S. (1984). Andragogy in action. Jossey-Bass.

- Knowles, M. S., Holton, E. F. I., & Swanson, R. A. (2015). The adult learner: The definitive classic in adult education and human resource development. Butterworth-Heinemann. https://doi.org/10.5430/jct.v7n2p12
- Kouzes, J. M., & Posner, B. Z. (2017). The leadership challenge (6th ed.). John Wiley and Sons.
- Kupietz, K. (2010). To change the world or to rule it: Applying transformational leadership theory to the American fire service. *International Fire Service Journal of Leadership and Management*, 4(2), 23–29. https://www.ifsjlm.org/sites/default/files/past-editionpdfs/IFSJLM_Vol4_Num2.pdf#page=25
- Kwak, H., McNeeley, S., & Kim, S. H. (2018). Emotional labor, role characteristics, and police officer burnout in South Korea: The mediating effect of emotional dissonance. *Police Quarterly*, 21(2), 223–249. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098611118757230
- Lacerenza, C. N., Reyes, D. L., Marlow, S. L., Joseph, D. L., & Salas, E. (2017). Leadership training design, delivery, and implementation: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *102*(12), 1–33. https://doi.org/10.1037/ap10000241
- LaLone, N., Toups, Z., & Tapia, A. (2020). The structure of citizen bystander offering behaviors immediately after the Boston Marathon bombing. In *Proceedings of the 53rd Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, 4605–4614.
 https://doi.org/10.24251/HICSS.2020.266
- Lee, H. Y. (2006). *Dai Zhen's ethical philosophy of the human being* [Doctoral dissertation, University of London]. https://eprints.soas.ac.uk/28811/1/10672979.pdf
- Lesaffre, X., Tourtier, J. P., Violin, Y., Frattini, B., Rivet, C., Stibbe, O., Faure, F., Godefroy, A., Gallet, J., & Ausset, S. (2017). Remote damage control during the attacks on Paris: Lessons learned by the Paris Fire Brigade and evolutions in the rescue system. *Journal of*

Trauma and Acute Care Surgery, 82(6S), S107–S113. https://doi.org/10.1097/TA.000000000001438

- Liberatore, M. J., & Wagner, W. P. (2022). Gender, performance, and self-efficacy: a quasiexperimental field study. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 62(1), 109–117. https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2020.1717397
- Light, A. M. (2016). An examination of the ascension to and experiences in the metropolitan chief fire officer position: Implications for leadership, policy and practice [Doctoral dissertation, Bowling Green State University]. OhioLINK Electronic Theses and Dissertations Center.

http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc_num=bgsu1478268574889246

Liu, T., & Jiao, H. (2018). How does information affect fire risk reduction behaviors? Mediating effects of cognitive processes and subjective knowledge. *Natural Hazards*, 90(3), 1461– 1483. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-017-3111-0

Love, K., & Singer, M. (1988). Self-efficacy, psychological well-being, job satisfaction and job involvement: A comparison of male and female police officers. *Police Studies*, 11(2), 98– 102. https://heinonline.org/hol-cgi-

bin/get_pdf.cgi?handle=hein.journals/polic11§ion=24

Majerowicz, L. K. (2018). Advancement experiences of female firefighters: A descriptive phenomenological study (Order No. 10742786) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Phoenix].

https://www.proquest.com/openview/c21a15b5940301f15c765e2079351d79/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=18750

- Malone, D. (2018). Health and safety in the fire service. *Integrated Studies*, *163* (Master's thesis, Murray State University). https://digitalcommons.murraystate.edu/bis437
- Martin, B. (2020). Does higher education really fit into the fire service's mission? *Firehouse*, 45, 46–49. https://www.firehouse.com/careers-education/article/21143572/does-higher-education-really-fit-into-the-fire-services-mission

Maru, A. M. (2017). Interrogation of the fire service: A leadership factor. Lulu.com

- Maslow, A. (1943). A theory of huma motivation. Psychological Review, 50(4), 370-396.
- Maslow, A., & Lewis, K. J. (1987). Maslow's hierarchy of needs. *Salenger Incorporated*, *14*(17), 987–990. https://www.researchhistory.org/2012/06/16/maslows-hierarchy-of-needs/
- Matzler, K., Bauer, F. A., & Mooradian, T. A. (2015). Self-esteem and transformational leadership. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 30(7), 815–831. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP012013-0030
- Maxfield, R. J., & Russell, E. J. (2017). Emergency services leadership: The lived experience. Journal of Homeland Security Education, 6, 1–13. https://jsire.org/wpcontent/uploads/sites/661/2018/09/emergencyleadership-thelivedexperiencefinal.pdf
- McCauley, C. D., Moxley, R. S., & Van Velsor, E. (Eds.). (1998). *The center for creative leadership handbook of leadership development*. Jossey-Bass.
- McCauley, C. D., Ruderman, M. N., Ohlott, P. J., & Morrow, J. E. (1994). Assessing the developmental components of managerial jobs. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79, 544– 560. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.79.4.544
- McCauley, C. D., Van Velsor, E., & Ruderman, M. N. (2010). Introduction: Our view of leadership development. In E. Van Velsor, C.D. McCauley, M.N. Ruderman (Eds.), *The*

center for creative leadership handbook of leadership development (3rd ed.). Jossey-Bass.

- McIntire, J. P., Boston, J., Smith, B., Swartz, P., Whitney-Rawls, A., Calderon, J. M., & Magin, J. (2017). AFRL Commander's Challenge 2015: Stopping the active shooter. Sensors, and Command, Control, Communications, and Intelligence (C31) Technologies for Homeland Security, Defense, and Law Enforcement Applications, 16(10184), 37–50. https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2261418
- Meerits, A., & Kivipõld, K. (2020). Leadership competencies of first-level military leaders. Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 41(8), 953–970. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-09-2019-0392
- Mellerson, J. L., Maxwell, C. B., Knighton, C. L., Kriss, J. L., Seither, R., & Black, C. L. (2018).
 Vaccination coverage for selected vaccines and exemption rates among children in kindergarten-United States, 2017–18 school year. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 67(40), 1115. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6740a3
- Merriam, S. B. (1993). An update on adult learning theory. Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S. B., & Caffarella, R. S. (1999). *Learning in adulthood: A comprehensive guide*. Jossey-Bass.
- Meyer, C. K., Noe, L. J., Geerts, J. A., & Booth, H. (2018). Leadership is more than rank. Journal of Business and Educational Leadership, 8(1), 29–38. http://asbbs.org/files/2019/JBEL_8.1_Fall_2018.pdf#page=29
- Miller, J. (2015). *The definition of leadership for a new generation*. Govexec.com. https://www.govexec.com/management/2015/05/definition-leadershipnewgeneration/114046/

Moeheriono. (2018). Pengukuran Kinerja Berbasis Kompetensi. https://www.rajagrafindo.co.id/produk/pengukuran-kinerja-berbasis-kompetensi/

- Murray, D., & Christison, M. (2019). *What English language teachers need to know volume I: Understanding learning*. Routledge.
- Myrseth, H., Hystad, S. W., Säfvenbom, R., & Olsen, O. K. (2018). Perception of specific military skills-the impact of perfectionism and self-efficacy. *Journal of Military Studies*, 9(1), 34–48. https://doi.org/10.2478/jms-2018-0002
- Naseer, S., Raja, U., Syed, F., Donia, M. B. L., & Darr, W. (2016). Perils of being close to a bad leader in a bad environment: Exploring the combined effects of despotic leadership, leader member exchange, and perceived organizational politics on behaviors. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 27(1), 14–33. https://doi.org/10.1016.2015.09.005
- National Fire Protection Association. (2013). https://www.nfpa.org/codes-and standards/all codes and standards/list-of-codes-and-standards/detail?code=1021
- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. (2016). *Preventing deaths and injuries of fire fighters during training exercises*, 1–5.

https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/wpsolutions/2017-

113/pdfs/2017113.pdf?id=10.26616/NIOSHPUB2017113

- Ng, K. Y., Ang, S., & Chan, K. Y. (2008). Personality and leader effectiveness: A moderated mediation model of leadership self-efficacy, job demands, and job autonomy. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 93(4), 733–743. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.93.4.733
- Nichols, A. L. (2016). What do people desire in their leaders? The effect of leadership experience on desired leadership traits. *Leadership and Organization Development Journal*, *37*(5), 658–671. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-09-2014-0182

- Niswaty, R., Juniati, F., Darwis, M., Salam, R., & Arhas, S. H. (2019). The effectiveness of leadership functions implementation in the makassar departement of manpower. *JPBM (Jurnal Pendidikan Bisnis dan Manajemen)*, 5(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.17977/um003v5i12019p001
- Paglis, L. L., & Green, S. G. (2002). Leadership self-efficacy and managers' motivation for leading change. *Journal of Organizational Behavior: The International Journal of Industrial, Occupational and Organizational Psychology and Behavior, 23*(2), 215–235. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.137
- Parkinson, D., Duncan, A., & Archer, F. (2019). Barriers and enablers to women in fire and emergency leadership roles. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, 34(2), 78–93. https://doi.org/10.1108/GM-07-2017-0090
- Penney, G. (2016). *Dynamic risk management in fire and rescue emergency operations* (Master's thesis, Edith Cowan University). https://ro.ecu.edu.au/theses/1927
- Penney, G. (2019). Exploring ISO31000 risk management during dynamic fire and emergency operations in Western Australia. *Fire*, *2*(2), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/fire2020021
- Pérez-Fuentes, M. D. C., Molero, M. D. M., del Pino, R. M., & Gázquez, J. J. (2019). Emotional intelligence, self-efficacy and empathy as predictors of overall self-esteem in nursing by years of experience. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*, 2035. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02035

Pfitzner-Eden, F. (2016). Why do I feel more confident? Bandura's sources predict preservice teachers' latent changes in teacher self-efficacy. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 1486. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01486

- Pietluch, A. (2020). Leveraging academic and vocational performance through self-efficacy. *Humanities and Social Sciences*, 25(2), 141–150. https://doi.org/10.7862/rz.2020.hss.23
- Pillai, R., & Williams, E. A. (2004). Transformational leadership, self-efficacy, group cohesiveness, commitment, and performance. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 17(2), 144–159. https://doi.org/10.1108/09534810410530584
- Putra, E. D., Cho, S., & Liu, J. (2017). Extrinsic and intrinsic motivation on work engagement in the hospitality industry: Test of motivation crowding theory. *Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 17(2), 228–241. https://doi.org/10.1177/1467358415613393
- Rehm, C. J. (2017). Leader self-efficacy in youth leader development: A mixed methods study (Order No. 10688972) [Doctoral dissertation, James Madison University]. https://www.proquest.com/openview/e01e46a7c6cd0990e6c49848cbbd74a3/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=18750
- Rehm, C. J., & Selznick, B. S. (2019). Measuring leader self-efficacy among youth. *Journal of Leadership Education*, 18(2), 52–64. https://doi.org/10.12806/V18/I2/R4
- Reimer, R., & Eriksen, C. (2018). The wildfire within: Gender, leadership and wildland fire culture. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 27(11), 715–726. https://doi.org/10.1071/WF17150
- Riggio, R. E. (2017). Power, persuasion, and bad leadership. *Why Irrational Politics Appeals: Understanding the Allure of Trump*, 71–86.

Robbins, S. P. (2000). Organization behavior. Prentice Hall.

Roberts, K., Herrington, V., Jones, W., White, J., & Day, D. (2016). Police leadership in 2045:
The value of education in developing leadership. *Policing: A Journal of Policy and Practice*, 10(1), 26–33. https://doi.org/10.1093/police/pav045

- Ross, S. (2014). A conceptual model for understanding the process of self-leadership development and action-steps to promote personal leadership development. *The Journal* of Management Development, 33(4), 299–323. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-112012-0147
- Russell, E. J. (2016a). In command of guardians: Executive servant leadership for the community of responders. Springer.
- Russell, E. J. (2016b). Servant leadership's cycle of benefit. *Servant Leadership: Theory & Practice*, *3*(1), 52–68.

https://csuepress.columbusstate.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1009&context=sltp

Russell, E. J., Russell, J., & Broomé, R. E. (2018). Surveying the experience of servant leadership within the fire and emergency services. *Servant Leadership: Theory & Practice*, 5(1), 59–68.

https://csuepress.columbusstate.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1071&context=sltp

- Schulte, N., & Thielsch, M. T. (2019). Evaluation of firefighter leadership trainings. International Journal of Emergency Services, 8(1), 34–49. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijes-0320180200
- Schwarzer, R., & Jerusalem, M. (1995). Generalized self-efficacy scale. Measures in Health Psychology: A User's Portfolio. Causal and Control Beliefs, 1(1), 35–37. https://www.religiousforums.com/data/attachmentfiles/2014/12/22334_285ebbd019ec89856493442b1b6f9154.pdf
- Sedlmeyer, L. R., & Dwyer, R. J. (2018). Fire officer leadership strategies for costmanagement. Disaster Prevention and Management: An International Journal, 27(5), 495–507. https://doi.org/10.1108/DPM-11-2017-0283

Seibert, S. E., Sargent, L. D., Kraimer, M. L., & Kiazad, K. (2017). Linking developmental experiences to leader effectiveness and promotability: The mediating role of leadership self-efficacy and mentor network. *Personnel Psychology*, 70(2), 357–397. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12145

Seither, R., Calhoun, K., Street, E. J., Mellerson, J., Knighton, C. L., Tippins, A., & Underwood, J. M. (2017). Vaccination coverage for selected vaccines, exemption rates, and provisional enrollment among children in kindergarten-United States, 2016–17 school year. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 66(40), 1073–1080. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6640a3

- Sendjaya, S. (2015). Servant leadership development. *Personal and Organizational Excellence Through Servant Leadership*, 117–130. Springer. https://10.1007/978-3-319-16196-9_9
- Shaaban, S. (2018). The impact of emotional intelligence on effective leadership in the military production factories (MPF) in Egypt. *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research*, 12(4), 229–239.

https://buescholar.bue.edu.eg/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1017&context=bus admin

- Sharafoddin, S., & Emsia, E. (2016). The effect of stock valuation on the company's management. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 36, 128–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/S22125671(16)30024-7
- Sienkiewicz-Małyjurek, K. (2016). Determinants and attributes of leadership in the public safety management system. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 39, 115–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(16)30254-4
- Silva, A. (2016). What is leadership?. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 8(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2006.10.002

- Simcock, T. (2020). A new front line? Workforce development issues from an evolving fire service. *International Journal of Emergency Services*, 10(2), 194–205. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJES-06-2020-0033
- Smeby, L. C. (2005). *Fire and emergency services administration: Management and leadership practices.* Jones and Bartlett.

Smith, E. C., Holmes, L., & Burkle, F. M. (2019). The physical and mental health challenges experienced by 9/11 first responders and recovery workers: A review of the literature. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, 34(6), 625–631. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1049023X19004989

- Sönmez, V. (2017). Association of cognitive, affective, psychomotor and intuitive domains in education, Sönmez model. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 5(3), 347–356. https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2017.050307
- Sowcik, M., & Amaladas, S. (2015). *Leadership 2050: critical challenges, key contexts, and emerging trends*. Emerald Group Publishing.
- Spanjaard, D., Hall, T., & Stegemann, N. (2018). Experiential learning: Helping students to become 'career-ready'. Australasian Marketing Journal (AMJ), 26(2), 163–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ausmj.2018.04.003
- Spector, B. A. (2016). *Discourse on leadership. A critical appraisal*. Cambridge University Press.
- Stanley, D., & Stanley, K. (2017). Clinical leadership and nursing explored: A literature search. Global Nursing, 27(9-10), 1730–1743. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14145
- Tannenbaum, R., & Massarik, F. (1957). Leadership: A frame of reference. Management Science, 4, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.4.1.1

- Tannenbaum, R., Weschler, I., & Massarik, F. (2013). *Leadership and organization (RLE: organizations): A Behavioural Science Approach*. Routledge.
- Taris, T. W., Kompier, M. A., Geurts, S. A., Houtman, I. L., & Van Den Heuvel, F. F. (2010).
 Professional efficacy, exhaustion, and work characteristics among police officers: A longitudinal test of the learning related predictions of the demand control model. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, *83*(2), 455–474.
 https://doi.org/10.1348/096317909X424583
- Tian, X., & Taylor, J. (2018). Selective inference with a randomized response. *The Annals of Statistics*, 46(2), 679–710. https://doi.org/10.1214/17-AOS1564
- Toygar, İ., Hançerlioğlu, S., Utku, T., Şimşir, I. Y., & Çetinkalp, Ş. (2022). Effect of an educational intervention based on Bandura's theory on foot care self-efficacy in diabetes:
 A prospective quasi-experimental study. *The International Journal of Lower Extremity Wounds*, 21(4), 414–419. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534734620948327
- Tracy, G. A. (2004). Leadership: Firefighters mentoring firefighters. *Fire Engineering*, *157*(8), 121–123. https://elibrary.ru/item.asp?id=8469291
- United States Fire Administration. (2020). *Working for a fire safe America*. https://www.usfa.fema.gov
- Van Dyk, J., Siedlecki, S. L., & Fitzpatrick, J. J. (2016). Frontline nurse managers' confidence and self-efficacy. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 24(4), 533–539. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12355
- Vermeir, P., Blot, S., Degroote, S., Vandijck, D., Mariman, A., Vanacker, T., Peleman, R., Verhaeghe, R., & Vogelaers, D. (2018). Communication satisfaction and job satisfaction among critical care nurses and their impact on burnout and intention to leave: A

questionnaire study. *Intensive and Critical Care Nursing*, 48, 21–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iccn.2018.07.001

Versland, T. M. (2016). Exploring self-efficacy in education leadership programs: What makes the difference? *Journal of Research on Leadership Education*, 11(3), 298–320. https://doi.org/10.1177/1942775115618503

Viscuso, F. (2013). Step up and lead. PennWell Corporation.

- Warner, R. M. (2013). Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques. Sage.
- Wei, J., Zhao, M., Wang, F., Cheng, P., & Zhao, D. (2016). An empirical study of the Volkswagen crisis in China: Customers' information processing and behavioral intentions. *Risk Analysis*, 36(1), 114–129. https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12446
- Wenger, D. E., Dynes, R. R., & Quarantelli, E. L. (1989). Disaster analysis: Police and fire departments. https://udspace.udel.edu/handle/19716/1141#files-area
- Williams, E. J., & Robinson, M. (2004). Ideology and criminal justice: Suggestions for a pedagogical model. *Journal of Criminal Justice Education*, 15, 373–392. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511250400086031
- Yoo, J. H. (2016). The effect of professional development on teacher efficacy and teachers' selfanalysis of their efficacy change. *Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability*, 18(1), 84–94. https://doi.org/10.1515/jtes-2016-0007

Yukl, G. (2010). Leadership in organizations (7th ed.). Prentice-Hall.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Instrument – Leadership Self-Efficacy Scale

(Bobbio & Manganelli, 2009)

Starting and leading change processes in groups

Starting and leading change processes in groups

 I am able to set a new direction for a group, if the one currently taken does not seem correct to me.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

 I can usually change the attitudes and behaviors of group members if they do not meet group objectives.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

- I am able to change things in a group even if they are not completely under my control.
 - 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Choosing effective followers and delegating responsibilities

 I am confident in my ability to choose group members in order to build up an effective and efficient team.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

5) I am able to optimally share out the work between the members of a group to get the best results.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

 I would be able to delegate the task of accomplishing specific goals to other group members.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

- I am usually able to understand to whom, within a group, it is better to delegate specific tasks.
 - 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Building and managing interpersonal relationships within the group

- 8) Usually, I can establish very good relationships with the people I work with.
 - 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 9) I am sure I can communicate with others, going straight to the heart of the matter.
 - 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

10) I can successfully manage relationship with all the members of a group.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Showing self-awareness and self-confidence

11) I can identify my strengths and weaknesses.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

12) I am confident in my ability to get things done.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

13) I always know how to get the best out of the situations I find myself in.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

14) With my experience and competence I can help group members to reach the group's targets.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

15) As a leader, I am usually able to affirm my beliefs and values.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Motivating people

16) With my example, I am sure I can motivate the members of a group.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

17) I can usually motivate group members and arouse their enthusiasm when I start a new project.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

18) I am able to motivate and give opportunities to any group member in the exercise of

his-her tasks or functions.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Gaining consensus of group members

19) I can usually make the people I work with appreciate me.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

20) I am sure I can gain the consensus of group members.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

21) I can usually lead a group with the consensus of all members.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Have you completed Blue Card training?

Yes

No

Are you a fire officer?

Yes

No

Years of experience

0-5 6-10 11-15 16+

Appendix B: Survey Informational Sheet for Participants and Participant Consent Form

Consent

Title of the Project: The Effect of Satisfying the Requirements for Fire Officer School on Leadership Self-Efficacy Among Fire Service Officers **Principal Investigator:** Thomas J. Grady III, Liberty University

Invitation to be Part of a Research Study

You are invited to participate in a research study. To participate, you must be 18 years of age, a fire service officer or a prospective fire service officer, and member of the HFD. Taking part in this research project is voluntary.

Please take time to read this entire form and ask questions before deciding whether to take part in this research.

What is the study about and why is it being done?

The purpose of this research study was to determine if a statistically significant difference exists in fire officer leadership self-efficacy of officers who have attended fire officer training school and those who have not attended fire officer school. The intention is to provide a means of analysis to determine the effectiveness of fire officer education.

What will happen if you take part in this study?

If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following things:

- 1. Initial emails will be sent per Survey Monkey to the Regional Training Officer of the HFD to distribute to the participants. The emails will include two links. All participants within this study who completed fire officer school will complete the survey upon the completion of fire officer school. All fire officers from the respective departments who choose to participate this research study will be invited and utilized.
- 2. Following the completion of each respective participants' fire officers simulation laboratory associated with the didactic education, another email will be sent for completion of the same exact survey for summative and comparative purposes.

How could you or others benefit from this study?

Participants should not expect to receive a direct benefit from taking part in this study.

The benefits to society include the contribution of data to the betterment and development of fire service officers in the fire service.

What risks might you experience from being in this study?

The risks involved in this study are minimal, which means they are equal to the risks you would encounter in everyday life, and may only include the devotion of time.

How will personal information be protected?

The records of this study will be kept private. The data will be used, but there will not be personal identifiers attached to the survey. Published reports will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher will have access to the records. All participant responses will be kept anonymous. The received data will be stored in Survey Monkey, as well as the researcher's password-

protected personal data storage drives. When the data are finished being collected, the Survey Monkey files will be suspended, but the data will remain on the password-protected researcher's data storage drives, and may be utilized future presentations. Data should be retained for three years upon completion of the study. After three years, all electronic records will be deleted.

How will you be compensated for being part of the study?

Participants will not be compensated for participating in this study.

Is study participation voluntary?

Participation in this study is voluntary. Your decision whether or not to participate will not affect your current or future relations with Liberty University or Blue Card. If you decide to participate, you are free to not answer any question or withdraw at any time without affecting those relationships.

What should you do if you decide to withdraw from the study?

If you choose to withdraw from the study, please exit the survey and close your internet browser. Your responses will not be recorded or included in the study.

Whom do you contact if you have questions or concerns about the study?

The researcher conducting this study is Thomas J. Grady III. You may ask any questions you have now. If you have questions later, **you are encouraged** to contact him at (xxx) xxx-xxxx or at xxxxxx@live.com. You may also contact the researcher's faculty sponsor, Dr. Nelson at xxxxxx@liberty.edu.

Whom do you contact if you have questions about your rights as a research participant?

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone other than the researcher, **you are encouraged** to contact the Institutional Review Board, 1971 University Blvd., Green Hall Ste. 2845, Lynchburg, VA 24515 or email at irb@liberty.edu.

Disclaimer: The Institutional Review Board (IRB) is tasked with ensuring that human subjects research will be conducted in an ethical manner as defined and required by federal regulations. The topics covered and viewpoints expressed or alluded to by student and faculty researchers are those of the researchers and do not necessarily reflect the official policies or positions of Liberty University.

Your Consent

Before agreeing to be part of the research, please be sure that you understand what the study is about. You can print a copy of the document for your records. If you have any questions about the study later, you can contact the researcher using the information provided above.

I have read and understood the above information. I have asked questions and have received answers. I consent to participate in the study.

Printed Subject Name

Signature & Date

Appendix C: Copy of Emailed Permissioned Use of the Instrument

Leadership Self-Efficacy Scale (Bobbio & Manganelli, 2009)

Dear Mr. Grady III,

Thank you for the kind e-mail and the interest you seem to have in the tentative work I did on Leadership Self-Efficacy (LSE) several years ago.

Even if we are not working extensively on this issue now, we -my co-author and I- have still in mind the issue of improving the items' wording and we are also collecting data in order to refine the measure that was published in 2009 (based on data collected about four years before, that is around 2005) -in what I now would call its very first version- on the manuscript you came across.

A new round of longitudinal data collection was closed some time ago; however, so far we haven't found the time to look into them...

Let me say that I have received several emails from both students, scholars and practitioners, interested in collecting data with the scale and/or in applying it within training courses or similar academic experiences. At present, I have knowledge of a few published studies which used the scale. However, so far the scale has been used for non-profit research aims, and this is ok to me.

In attachment you can find the new 21 items of the Leadership Self-Efficacy scale (LSE) version 4.0 (updated to 2016!), so that you can have an idea of what it is right now, of the main results we got on the 2009 paper (that is with the LSE version 1.0, which is still copyrighted by TPM: <u>www.tpmap.org</u>) and in some subsequent unpublished studies, and also deduce some (hopefully useful) information for your interest in research and/or application.

The English translation was checked with a native English speaker, therefore you will also find the items in Italian.

In sum, every time we administered the LSE it seemed to work quite well; usually we prefer to compute a general LSE score by summing/averaging the scores of all the 21 items, instead of calculating 6 separate composite scores, that is the scores of the 6 factors/dimensions which are supposed to constitute this scale. In fact, using one score was simpler, parsimonious and fitted well with our research purposes.

In case you would decide to use all or some of the items of the LSE 4.0, for scientific purposes or else, we could discuss the more appropriate way to do it (i.e., the reference could be both the 2014 unpublished research report I am sending to you, and the 2009 paper. The LSE 4.0 is a modified version of the scale published in 2009, that is still copyrighted by the publishing company who prints the TPM Journal, etc.).

Just to be clear: I am not in the condition to grant permission for using this instrument (i.e., particularly the 2009 version, but also the LSE 4.0) for profit activities, and, right now, I am not interested in it.

Please, let me know additional details on what you are going to do.

Finally, before making any other further steps or decisions, if I may, I would strongly recommend you to read at least the following papers, that I found very inspiring and extremely valuable at that time, where you can also find sample items of shorter and reliable LSE or SE scales (particularly n. 2, 4 and 5) that could be handy for your aims. Perhaps, the scales included in these studies could have been subsequently used by other researchers.

1) Anderson et al. (2008). A leadership self-efficacy taxonomy and its relation to effective leadership. *Leadership Quarterly*, *19*(5), 595-608.

2) Chemers et al. (2000). Dispositional affect and leader effectiveness: A comparison of self-esteem, optimism, and efficacy. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 26, 267-277.
3) Hannah et al. (2008). Leadership efficacy: Review and future directions. *Leadership Quarterly*, 19(6), 669-692.

4) Ng et al. (2008). Personality and leader effectiveness: A moderated mediation model of leadership self-efficacy, job demands, and job autonomy. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *93*, 733-743.

5) Paglis, L. L., & Green, S. G. (2002). Leadership self-efficacy and managers' motivation for leading change. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *23*, 215-235.

Please, confirm that you received the attached file correctly and feel free to get back to me if you think I could be of any help and/or if you want to discuss any aspect of the instrument. Of course, comments and criticism are more than welcome.

I look forward to hearing from you and, if I may, good luck with your research effort and stay safe.

Best Regards.

Andrea Bobbio

Appendix D: IRB Approval

		Date: 1-13-2023
RB #: IRB-FY21-22-745 Title: THE EFFECT OF SATISFYING SELF-EFFICACY AMONG FIRE SER Creation Date: 2-10-2022 End Date: Status: Approved Principal Investigator: Thomas Gra Review Board: Research Ethics Off Sponsor:	B THE REQUIREMENTS FOR FIRE O VICE OFFICERS ady fice	OFFICER SCHOOL ON LEADERSHIP
Study History		
Submission Type Initial	Review Type Exempt	Decision Exempt
Submission Type Modification	Review Type Exempt	Decision Exempt
ey Study Contacts	Role Co-Principal Investigator	Contact
Member Timothy Nelson		
Member Timothy Nelson Member Thomas Grady	Role Principal Investigator	Contact

Appendix E: Copies of Emailed Invitations for Participant Involvement

Letter to the Sterling Heights Fire Department

2/14/22

Steve Kohut SHFD Chief of Training SHFD xxxxxx xxx xx xxxxxx, xxx xxxx

Dear Chief Kohut,

As a graduate student in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a Ph.D. degree. The purpose of my research is to examine self-efficacy levels of fire service officers, and I am writing to invite eligible participants to join my study.

Participants must be 18 years of age or older, fire service officers who have recently taken Blue Card, and prospective fire service officers or firefighters close to the officer level who have not taken Blue Card. Participants, if willing, will be asked to sign a consent form and complete a Survey Monkey survey. It should take approximately 5 minutes to complete the procedures listed. Participation will be completely anonymous, and no personal, identifying information will be collected.

To participate, please click the first link if you are a fire officer who has completed Blue Card training, or choose the second link if you have not yet finished Blue Card training.

For officers: https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/WDCD3SV

For non-officers: https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/2B6WDQ5)

Contact me at (xxx) xxx-xxxx

A consent document is provided as the first page of the survey. The consent document contains additional information about my research. After you have read the consent form, please click the button to proceed to the survey. Doing so will indicate that you have read the consent information and would like to take part in the survey.

Sincerely,

Thomas J Grady III Sterling Heights Fire Lieutenant (Local 1557) and Ph.D. candidate (xxx) xxx-xxxx xxxxx@liberty.edu

Letter to the Houston Fire Department

2/12/22

Dear Jeffery King,

As a graduate student in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a Ph.D. degree. The purpose of my research is to examine self-efficacy levels of fire service officers, and I am writing to invite eligible participants to join my study.

Participants must be 18 years of age or older and either fire officers or prospective fire officers. Participants, if willing, will be asked to complete a SurveyMonkey survey. It should take approximately 5 minutes to complete the survey. Participation will be completely anonymous, and no personal, identifying information will be collected.

To participate, please click the first link if you are a fire officer who has completed Blue Card training, or choose the second link if you have not yet finished Blue Card training.

For officers: https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/WDCD3SV

For non-officers: https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/2B6WDQ5)

Contact me at (xxx) xxx-xxxx if you have any questions.

A consent document is attached to this email and will be provided as the first page of the survey. The consent document contains additional information about my research. After you have read the consent form, please click the button to proceed to the survey. Doing so will indicate that you have read the consent information and would like to take part in the survey.

Sincerely,

Thomas J Grady III Sterling Heights Fire Lieutenant (Local 1557) and Ph.D. candidate (xxx) xxx-xxxx xxxxxx@liberty.edu